
Chongqing Urban–Rural Infrastructure Development 
Demonstration Project (RRP PRC 42012-01) 

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ASSESSMENT 
 
 

A. Introduction 
 
1. Financial management assessment (FMA) was carried out in accordance with the 
Guidelines for the Financial Governance and Management of Investment Projects Financed by 
ADB using the financial management assessment questionnaire (FMAQ) for all the implementing 
units (IUs) and operating companies. The implementing units are all state owned enterprises under 
local government departments. The financial management assessment of eight implementing units 
(IUs) for road sub-components and five implementing units for water supply sub-components has 
been carried out. 
 
2. The role of Fuling District Zhonglong Transport Construction Company Ltd., Qianjiang 
District City Construction Investment (Group) Company Ltd., Youyang Autonomous County Longda 
Road Construction Investment Company Ltd., Xiushan Huaxin State Assets Company Ltd., 
Yunyang County Transport Company Ltd., Fengjie County Roads and Bridges Company, Wushan 
County Transport Development Company and Chengkou County Road Bureau is construction of 
21 roads in eight counties. Once constructed, maintenance works will be handed over to local road 
bureaus and town/township governments. The role of Chongqing Municipality (Youyang) Xinyou 
Water Supply Company Ltd., Yunyang County Jinyu Water Resources and Electricity Company 
Ltd., Fengjie County Xinquan Water Supply Company Ltd., Wushan County Longsheng 
Construction and Development Company Ltd., and Chengkou County Water Supply Company is 
construction of nine water supply sub-components in five counties. Besides implementing the 
Project, they are also responsible for the operation and maintenance of the completed branch 
water treatment and distribution facilities. 
 
3. The financial management assessment covers a broad range of issues ranging from its 
legal status and statutory reporting requirements, fund flow arrangements, staffing, accounting 
policies and procedures, budgeting system, accounting and management controls and internal and 
external auditing. The responses from the IU reveal the accounting and financial capacity needs 
during project implementation and operations after project completion. Issues and risks associated 
with their financial management systems were identified and appropriate risk mitigation measures 
were proposed to improve project design and implementation. The finance departments of the IUs 
completed the questionnaires. 
 
B. Brief Description of the Implementing Units 
 
4. Fuling District Zhonglong Transport Construction Company Ltd. The company will be 
the IU for the two road sub-components in Wulingshan to Baitao Road and in Baisheng Town. It is 
a state-owned enterprise established in January 2002 under Fuling District Transport Commission. 
Its business scope includes financing and construction management of roads, bridges, ports, piers 
etc for Fuling District; development, operation, and management of transport resources and land 
resources in Fuling District; management of state-assets investment in the transport sector; and 
landscaping. It has seven departments: General Office, Finance, Engineering, Business, Electrical 
and Mechanical, Safety and Corporate with a total staff number of 58. 
 
5. Qianjiang District City Construction Investment (Group) Company Ltd. The company 
will be the IU for one road sub-component from Houba to Huangxi Road. It is a state-owned 
enterprise established in 2006 (originally named as Qianjiang District Property Development Co. 
Ltd.) and re-constituted in 2009 under Qianjiang District State Assets Supervision and 
Management Commission. Its business scope includes land acquisition, property development and 
renting, redevelopment of the old city and construction of urban and rural infrastructures including 
roads. The company has 14 Departments (with major functions involving corporate planning, land 
management, project management, asset management, financing and investment etc.) and a 
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number of subsidiary companies, which include a housing development company, a construction 
company, an advertising company and a logistics company. The Group has a total staff number of 
240, while the staff number in the departments is 130 of which 91% are university graduates. 
 
6. Youyang County Longda Road Construction Investment Company Ltd. The company 
will be the IU for the three road sub-components in Ganxi Town to Train Station Road, Heishui 
Town to Maoba Township, and Shuicao to Yaojiatuo Road. It is a state-owned enterprise 
established in March 2008 under the county Transport Bureau. Its business scope includes the 
management, construction and maintenance of transport infrastructure projects. The company has 
five departments: Administration, Finance, Chief Engineer’s Office, Projects and Safety. It has a 
total staff of 35, of which 10 are technical, 20 are managerial and five general support staff. 
 
7. Xiushan Huaxin State Assets Company Ltd. The company will be the IU for the road 
sub-component to be constructed from Meijiang to Yunai Road. It is a state-owned enterprise 
established in September 2006 under the county Finance Bureau. Its business scope includes the 
supervision, management, operation and disposal of assets owned by the county government. The 
company has six departments: General Office, Finance, Planning, Projects, Assets Management 
and Assets Transaction, and five other subsidiary companies that are concerned with city 
infrastructure construction, land development, and industrial development with a total staff number 
of about 20. 
 
8. Yunyang County Transport Company Ltd. The company will be the IU for four road sub-
components to be constructed in Yaoling Township to Qingshui Road, Yanglu Township, Nongba 
Town and Nixi Town. It is a state-owned enterprise established in January 2001 under the County 
Transport Bureau. Its business scope includes the financing and construction of transport 
infrastructures, and sales of motor cycles, car spare parts and construction materials. The 
company has five departments: General Office, Planning, Finance, Engineering, Safety 
Management, and a number of other subsidiary companies. The company has a total staff number 
of about 160, with a significant number of professionals including engineers, economists, 
accountants and statisticians. 
 
9. Fengjie County Roads and Bridges Company. The company will be the IU for four road 
sub-components to be constructed in Hongtu Township, Caotang Town and Qinglong Town, and 
Tuxiang Town. It is a state-owned enterprise established in 1992 under the County Transport 
Bureau. Its business scope includes the financing and construction of roads and bridges. The 
company has six Departments: Administration Office, Finance, Human Resources, Engineering, 
Audit and Sales with a total staff of 69. 
 
10. Wushan County Transport Development Company. The company will be the IU for the 
five road sub-components to be constructed in five villages all within Longjing Town. It is a state-
owned enterprise established in May 1994 under Wushan Transport Bureau. Its business scope 
includes the construction of roads, bridges and associated works, and sales of construction 
materials and renting of equipment. The company has four Departments: General Office, 
Engineering Management, Finance and Projects with a total staff number of 73. 
 
11. Chengkou County Road Bureau. The bureau will be the IU for the road sub-component, 
Chengguan Road 2 to be constructed between Gecheng Town and Gaoguan Town. It is a 
government department under Chengkou County Transport Bureau, reorganized from Chengkou 
County Road Maintenance Team in April 2008. The main responsibilities of the Road Bureau is 
overall management and maintenance of provincial, county and township roads within the county, 
planning and construction of rural roads, and governing of the use of such roads. The bureau has 
three departments: General Office, Accounting and Finance, and Construction and Management, 
under which there are 17 Road Maintenance Stations with 84 administrative and maintenance 
staff. 
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12. Chongqing Municipality (Youyang) Xinyou Water Supply Company Limited. The 
company will be the IU and O&M agency for the two water supply plants and supply pipelines to be 
constructed in Longtan Town and Mawang Town. It is a state-owned enterprise established in 
February 2000 under Youyang County Water Resources Bureau. Its business scope includes 
management and construction of water supply engineering works, installation of water supply 
equipment, construction of water resources and electrical works, and sale of water heating 
equipment. The company has six departments consisting of Administration Office, Planning and 
Finance, Engineering Construction, Longtan Water Supply Station, Mawang Water Supply Station 
and Dingshi Water Supply Station. 
 
13. Yunyang County Jinyu Water Resources and Electricity Company Limited. The 
company will be the IU responsible for three water supply plants and supply pipelines to be 
constructed for Jiangkou Town, Nixi Town and Yanglu Town. It is a state-owned enterprise 
established recently under the County Water Bureau. Its business scope includes the 
development, management and construction of water resources, and water and electricity projects. 
The company has five departments consisting of General Office, Finance, Engineering, Investment 
and Business Operation. 
 
14. Fengjie County Xinquan Water Supply Company Ltd. The company will be the IU and 
O&M agency responsible for the two water supply plants and pipelines in Hongtu Township and 
Caotang Town. It is a state-owned enterprise established in April 2001 under the County Water 
Resources Bureau. Its business scope includes rural water supply for towns and townships, hydro-
power installations for villages, maintenance of drainage installations, and sales of pipes and other 
drainage materials. The company has five departments: General Office, Finance, Operation 
Technology, Procurement, Safety and Security, and nine Water Supply sub-companies. 
 
15. Wushan County Longsheng Construction and Development Company Limited. The 
company will be the IU and O&M agency for one water supply plant to be constructed in Longjing 
Township. It is a state-owned enterprise established in 2009 under Wushan County New District 
Construction Management Committee. Its business scope includes the financing and construction 
management of city infrastructures, assets management, landscaping and sales of construction 
materials. The company has four departments: General Office, Financing, Finance and Accounting, 
Engineering and a subsidiary company: Dincheng Water Company Ltd. Dingcheng Water 
Company Ltd. will take the role to construct and maintain the new water supply plant under the 
Project. 
 
16. Chengkou County Water Supply Company. The company will be the IU and O&M 
agency for one water treatment plant and water supply network in Gaoguan Town. It is a state-
owned established in 2002 under the County Water Bureau. Its business scope includes the 
management, construction and operation of water supply facilities for the County’s urban area and 
towns/townships. The company has eight departments consisting of: General Office, Finance, 
Business, Installation, Maintenance, Water Supply Station, Operation Technology and Other 
Services. 
 
C. Results of the Financial Management Assessment 
 
17. The financial management capability of 13 IUs was found to be adequate for the 
implementation of the Project although training in ADB procedures especially procurement, 
reimbursement and project management and accounting procedures will be required. An 
assessment of the above institutions was conducted using individual interviews and questionnaires 
with management. The detailed responses to the questionnaire are presented in Annexes 1–13 
and a summary of the conclusions is provided below. 
 
18. Fuling District Zhonglong Transport Construction Company Ltd. It is affiliated to Fuling 
Transport Commission and is entirely state-owned. It has seven sectors: General Office, Finance, 
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Engineering, Business, Electrical and Mechanical, Safety and Corporate. The Finance Department 
is headed by a chief sector and has two accountants and one bookkeeper. One deputy of the 
company is in charge of the financial sector. This level of staffing is generally adequate, although 
some training will be needed as the company has not implemented an ADB-funded project. The 
company prepares accounting statements on commercial principles and adopts controls such as 
segregation of duties, proper authorization of transactions, payroll controls, regular bank 
reconciliations, subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, receivables and payables, and periodic 
inventory of fixed assets. The existing financial reporting system has the capacity to link financial 
information with information on the physical progress of engineering projects'. One of the internal 
control weaknesses noted was that the company does not have the services of an Internal Auditor, 
which is an internal control weakness, since an internal auditor could assist in development of 
proper systems and carry out regular checks on day to day transactions. Fuling District Audit 
Bureau and some firms of CPAs carry out the external audit with periodic rotation of auditors; the 
auditors have issued clean audit reports. 
 
19. Qianjiang District City Construction Investment (Group) Company Ltd. It is a state-
owned enterprise under Qianjiang District State Assets Supervision and Management Commission. 
The Financial Department is stronger in the company headed by principal financial monitor and 
consisting of 12 staff. It has one sector chief, two deputies of the sector, five accountants, and two 
internal auditors. The level of staffing is adequate. They have some experience in the management 
of disbursements from foreign funded projects and have experience managing foreign exchange 
risks as they have completed Zhengyang Avenue loaned from the World Bank. Its investment is 
CNY480 million ($71 million), $29.6 million of which was funded by the World Bank. They still need 
to be trained in finance as it is new for them to implement an ADB-funded project. The company 
prepares accounting statements on commercial principles and adopts controls such as segregation 
of duties, proper authorization of transactions, payroll controls, regular bank reconciliations, 
subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, receivables and payables, and periodic inventory of fixed 
assets. Except two internal auditors, a firm of CPAs carries out the service of external audit with 
periodic rotation of auditors, which is considered good practice. 
 
20. Youyang County Longda Road Construction Investment Company Ltd. It is a state-
owned enterprise under Youyang County Transport Bureau. Its financial department is headed by 
a deputy manager of the company and has two staff, one accountant and a bookkeeper. This level 
of staffing is generally adequate, although some training will be needed as the company has not 
implemented an ADB-funded project. The company prepares accounting statements on 
commercial principles and adopts controls such as segregation of duties, proper authorization of 
transactions, payroll controls, regular bank reconciliations, subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, 
receivables and payables, and periodic inventory of fixed assets. It also has the services of an 
Internal Audit by richly experienced auditors, and the results of audit are reported to the member of 
board, inspectors of the company. A firm of CPAs carries out the service of external audit with 
periodic rotation of auditors, which is considered good practice. 
 
21. Xiushan Huaxin State Assets Company Ltd. It is a state-owned enterprise established 
under Xiushan County Finance Bureau. The financial department is headed by a deputy manager 
of the company and has two staff, one accountant and a bookkeeper. This level of staffing is 
generally adequate, although some training will be needed as the company has not implemented 
an ADB-funded project. The company prepares accounting statements on commercial principles 
and adopts controls such as segregation of duties, proper authorization of transactions, payroll 
controls, regular bank reconciliations, subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, receivables and 
payables, and periodic inventory of fixed assets. The company has an internal auditor with two 
years experience. The audit reports are hand over to the chairman of the board of the company. A 
firm of CPAs carries out the service of external audit with periodic rotation of auditors, which is 
considered good practice. 
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22. Yunyang County Transport Company Ltd. It is a state-owned enterprise under Yunyang 
County Transport Bureau. Its financial department is headed by a chief sector and has two staff, 
one accountant and a bookkeeper. One more staff will be added to the financial department to 
assist with project finance when the ADB loan is approved. This level of staffing is generally 
adequate, although some training will be needed as the company has not implemented an ADB-
funded project. The company prepares accounting statements on commercial principles and 
adopts controls such as segregation of duties, proper authorization of transactions, payroll controls, 
regular bank reconciliations, subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, receivables and payables, and 
periodic inventory of fixed assets. The company has an internal auditor titled in accountant. The 
audit reports are handed over to the general manager of the company. The county audit bureau 
carries out the external audit with periodic rotation of auditors, which is considered good practice. 
The auditors have issued a clean audit report. 
 
23. Fengjie County Roads and Bridges Company. It is a state-owned enterprise under 
Fengjie County Transport Bureau. The financial department is headed by a chief sector and has 
five staff, a deputy sector, one principal accountant, one accountant and a bookkeeper. This level 
of staffing is generally adequate, although some training will be needed as the company has not 
implemented an ADB-funded project. The company prepares accounting statements on 
commercial principles and adopts controls such as segregation of duties, proper authorization of 
transactions, payroll controls, regular bank reconciliations, subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, 
receivables and payables, and periodic inventory of fixed assets. The company has two internal 
auditors; one is assistant accountant and another is assistant auditor with 20 years experience in 
accounting and 10 years experience in auditing respectively. The audit reports are handed over to 
the general manager of the company. Chongqing Municipal Audit Bureaus, Fengjie County Audit 
Bureau, as well as other independent agencies carry out the external audit, which is considered 
good practice. The auditors have issued a clean audit report. 
 
24. Wushan County Transport Development Company. It is a state-owned enterprise under 
Wushan Transport Bureau. Its financial department is headed by the chief engineer of the 
company and has two staff, one accountant and a bookkeeper. Some staff will be moved to the 
financial department when the ADB project has been issued. This level of staffing is generally 
adequate, although some training will be needed as the company has not implemented an ADB-
funded project. The company prepares accounting statements on commercial principles and 
adopts controls such as segregation of duties, proper authorization of transactions, payroll controls, 
regular bank reconciliations, subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, receivables and payables, and 
periodic inventory of fixed assets. The company has an internal auditor, and the audit reports are 
handed over to the chairman of the board of the company. A firm of CPAs carries out the service of 
external audit with periodic rotation of auditors, which is considered good practice. 
 
25. Chengkou County Road Bureau. It is a government department under Chengkou County 
Transport Bureau. The financial department is headed by a chief sector and has two staff, one 
accountant and a bookkeeper. This level of staffing is generally adequate, although some training 
will be needed as the bureau has not implemented an ADB-funded project. The company prepares 
accounting statements on commercial principles and adopts controls such as segregation of duties, 
proper authorization of transactions, payroll controls, regular bank reconciliations, subsidiary 
accounts for fixed assets, receivables and payables, and periodic inventory of fixed assets. The 
bureau does not have the services of an internal auditor, which is an internal control weakness, 
since an internal auditor could assist in development of proper systems and carry out regular 
checks on day to day transactions. Chengkou County Audit Bureau, which carries out the external 
audit, has issued a clean audit report. 
 
26. Chongqing Municipality (Youyang) Xinyou Water Supply Company Ltd. It is a state-
owned enterprise under Youyang County Water Resources Bureau. Its financial department is 
headed by a chief sector and has three staff, an accountant and two bookkeepers. One 
bookkeeper will specially work for the ADB project when the loan is approved. This level of staffing 
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is generally adequate, although some training will be needed as the company has not implemented 
an ADB-funded project. The company prepares accounting statements on commercial principles 
and adopts controls such as segregation of duties, proper authorization of transactions, payroll 
controls, regular bank reconciliations, subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, receivables and 
payables, and periodic inventory of fixed assets. The company does not have the services of an 
internal auditor, which is an internal control weakness, since an internal auditor could assist in 
development of proper systems and carry out regular checks on day to day transactions. A firm of 
CPAs carries out the external audit with periodic rotation of auditors, which is considered good 
practice. 
 
27. Yunyang County Jinyu Water Resources and Electricity Company Ltd. It is a state-
owned enterprise under Yunyang County Water Resource Bureau. The financial department is 
headed by a chief sector and has two staff, one accountant and a bookkeeper. This level of staffing 
is generally adequate, although some training will be needed as the company has not implemented 
an ADB-funded project. The company prepares accounting statements on commercial principles 
and adopts controls such as segregation of duties, proper authorization of transactions, payroll 
controls, regular bank reconciliations, subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, receivables and 
payables, and periodic inventory of fixed assets. The company has an internal auditor who has 
adequate experience in auditing. The result will be reported to the manager of the company. An 
independent agency carries out the external audit with periodic rotation of auditors, which is 
considered good practice. 
 
28. Fengjie County Xinquan Water Supply Company Ltd. It is a state-owned enterprise 
under Fengjie County Water Resources Bureau. Its financial department is headed by a chief 
sector and has two staff, one accountant and a bookkeeper. This level of staffing is generally 
adequate, although some training will be needed as the company has not implemented an ADB-
funded project. The company prepares accounting statements on commercial principles and 
adopts controls such as segregation of duties, proper authorization of transactions, payroll controls, 
regular bank reconciliations, subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, receivables and payables, and 
periodic inventory of fixed assets. The company has an internal auditor, who has adequate 
experience in auditing. The results are reported to the manager of the company. An independent 
agency carries out the external audit, with periodic rotation of auditors, which is considered good 
practice. The auditors have issued a clean audit report. 
 
29. Wushan County Longsheng Construction and Development Company Ltd. It is a 
state-owned enterprise under Wushan County New District Construction Management Committee. 
As a branch of the company, Dingcheng Water Affairs Company has a financial sector itself, which 
is headed by a chief sector and has two staff, one accountant and a bookkeeper. This level of 
staffing is generally adequate, although some training will be needed as the company has not 
implemented an ADB-funded project. Dingcheng Water Affairs Company prepares accounting 
statements on commercial principles and adopts controls such as segregation of duties, proper 
authorization of transactions, payroll controls, regular bank reconciliations, subsidiary accounts for 
fixed assets, receivables and payables, and periodic inventory of fixed assets. The company does 
not have the services of an internal auditor, which is an internal control weakness, since an internal 
auditor could assist in development of proper systems and carry out regular checks on day to day 
transactions. A firm of CPAs carries out the external audit with periodic rotation of auditors, which 
is considered good practice. The audit report will be issued in 15 days. 
 
30. Chengkou County Water Supply Company. It is a state-owned enterprise under 
Chengkou County Water Bureau. The financial department is headed by a chief sector and has two 
staff, one accountant and a bookkeeper. This level of staffing is generally adequate, although some 
training will be needed as the company has not implemented an ADB-funded project. The company 
prepares accounting statements on commercial principles and adopts controls such as segregation 
of duties, proper authorization of transactions, payroll controls, regular bank reconciliations, 
subsidiary accounts for fixed assets, receivables and payables, and periodic inventory of fixed 
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assets. The company does not have the services of an internal auditor, which is an internal control 
weakness, since an internal auditor could assist in development of proper systems and carry out 
regular checks on day to day transactions. An independent agency with periodic rotation of 
auditors carries out the external auditing, which is considered good practice. The auditors have 
issued a clean audit report. 
 
D. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
31. The financial management of the institutions concerned could be improved as follows: 
 

• The quality of the financial statements needs to be improved. Financial statements 
should include a full set of explanatory notes to the accounts and in the case of a 
limited liability company a Cash flow Statement, in addition to the Profit and Loss 
and Balance Sheet, must be produced; 

• The budgetary system should also be improved. Physical and financial targets 
should be monitored in the budget and reported to management on a regular basis 
so that corrective action, if necessary, can be taken. 

• Good internal control was lacking. It is necessary to create and fill the position of 
Internal Auditor in each concerned organization; a once only systems audit by an 
independent firm of CPAs is highly warranted in the spirit of ensuring accountability 
and good governance. 

• The Audit Bureau or independent agencies carry out the external audit, but it is not 
carried out on a regular basis. Further, the audit is in the form of compliance with 
local regulations rather than assessing the accounting system, which is essential to 
ensure quality of financial statements produced. Internal audit needs to be 
undertaken to highlight any system weaknesses in some IUs. Hence, an 
independent firm of certified public accountants needs to carry out systems audit as 
part of a full systems and transactions audit. 

• Since most of the implementing units have not implemented an ADB project, training 
on ADB procedures must be provided to all finance staff. 

 
32. The loan-financed implementation consultant will review the financial information systems 
and procedures of the IUs and propose modifications, if necessary; draft terms of reference for 
external auditors, specifically with regard to conducting a systems audit; prepare a financial 
management plan; assist in implementing the financial management plan; prepare a program of 
financial training seminars and courses for different levels of accountants and financial managers; 
and develop a methodology for the periodic review of the water supply, wastewater, water tariffs 
and roads maintenance. 
 
33. Furthermore, with the help of international and national consultants, the capacity of the IUs 
will be strengthened in: (i) efficient operations of the water supply, wastewater facilities and road 
maintenance; (ii) functional areas covering administration, finance, accounting, and business 
planning; and (iii) management information system, and cost management and control. 
 
34. All the IUs will be provided with thorough training in ADB loan processing, policies and 
procedures as well as methods for the effective management of foreign exchange risks. Each IU 
will establish a well-staffed project management office. Separate subsidiary accounts will be 
established for the Project to ensure that project management activities can be separately 
accounted for. 
 
35. All IUs should review and evaluate their budgeting policies and procedures to ensure that 
these provide effective cost control such as budget setting based on both physical and financial 
targets and clear accountability for cost control. IUs should strengthen their policies and 
procedures in these areas to prevent wasteful use of resources. 
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36. All the IUs must consistently follow PRC’s accounting and auditing standards to ensure the 
timely and accurate interpretation of the financial position and performance of the IUs and the 
proper use of project expenditures according to the loan agreement while taking efficiency and 
economy into account. Each IU will keep accounts in accordance with relevant PRC accounting 
standards and subject to independent external audit by suitably qualified commercial or 
government auditors. All IUs will meet ADB requirements for auditing arrangements and submit 
audited financial statements and project accounts to ADB annually. 
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Annex 1  
 

Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire 
Fuling District Zhonglong Transport Construction Company Ltd. 

Background Information  

Name of Organization Fuling District Zhonglong Transport Construction 
Company Ltd. 

Subsub-component and projects for which the 
organization is responsible 

Wulingshan to Baitao Road; Baisheng Town to Zhongxin 
Village Road 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Ma Shichao, the chief of financial sector. 
 

Topic Response 
1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  

1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / 
registration? 

It is state owed enterprise legally; the number of legal 
identification is 512301196006020259; the number 
registered is 500102000002554. 

1.2. Has your organization implemented a 
foreign-financed project in the past? (If yes, 
provide detailed project name) 

No 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Fuling Transport Committee 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to 
the … Government? It a department of Fuling District Government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting 
requirements for your organization? 

Obey Accounting Regulations and Standards of Revenue 
Generating Enterprise and others related to the 
enterprises. 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for 
the needs of the project? Yes 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement  
2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, 
including a chart and explanation of the flow of 
funds from ADB, government, and other 
financing sources. 

From ADB to Chongqing Finance Bureau, then to District 
Finance Bureau, and then to the Company 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds 
of the ADB loan from the … Finance Bureau to 
your organization satisfactory? 

It is adequate. 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major 
problems in the receipt of ADB funds? No 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be 
opened? The Branch of Construction Bank 

2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have 
experience in the management of disbursements 
from ADB? 

No experience in management of disbursement from 
ADB 

2.6. Does your organization have experience 
managing foreign exchange risks? Yes 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of 
funds for your subsub-component construction? 

Counterpart funds will be prepared in local financial 
budgets, and main resources will from various taxes. 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Draw from revenues coming directly 
2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the 
project? No public fee/tariffs to be raised for the Project 

2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to 
project costs? No 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to 
contribute in kind are proper guidelines 
formulated to record and value the contribution? 

Yes, it will be if beneficiaries have contributed. 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart 
funds? 

It will be transferred by banks, and will be paid in 
financial center of the district. 
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Topic Response 
3. Staffing  
3.1. What is your organization’s structure for 
accounting or finance department? (Attach an 
organization chart.) 

Chief of financial sector 
↓                        ↓ 

2 accountants 1 bookkeeper 

3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, 
position title, responsibilities, educational 
background, and professional certification) 

Ma Shichao, in charging of whole financial affairs in the 
company; 
Jiang Huai, in charging of financial check of engineering 
in the company; 
Shi Ming, in charging of the accounting check of the 
company; 
Zhang Xiaoli, in charging of receiving and payment of the 
company. 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing 
changes will you make to assist with project 
finance and accounting? 

Adequate staff was arranged for the Project. 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately 
staffed? Yes 

3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified 
and experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in 
ADB procedures? Yes 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the 
accounting staff? Trained in occupation continually. 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  
4.1. Does the organization have an accounting 
system, which allows for proper recording of 
project financial transactions, including the 
allocation of expenditures in accordance with the 
respective subsub-components, disbursement 
categories, and source of funds? 

Yes, the transactions will be recorded on original 
evidence, receipts and so on, and will be allocated 
according to the percent of investment of different 
engineering works through fulfillment of internal control 
regulations. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will 
the Implementing unit and Executing Agency 
use? 

The Revenue generated Enterprises Accounting 
Regulations of PRC 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the 
preparation and approval of transactions, 
ensuring that all transactions are correctly made 
and adequately explained? 

Yes, there are professional controls to ensure each 
transaction was correctly conducted, adequately 
explained, prepared and approved 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly 
account for and report on project activities and 
disbursements categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding 
sources made accurately and in accordance with 
established agreements? 

Yes, allocation will be done in actual cost/average 
cost/irregular cost. 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary 
ledgers reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting 
documents retained on a permanent basis in a 
defined system which allows authorized users 
easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities 
performed by different units or persons:  
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4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes, it is the chief of the financial sector, managers of the 

company. 
4.8.2. Record transactions Yes, it is the accountant. 

4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in 
transaction 

The financial sector will maintain accounting books, and 
the general office of the company will care for the 
physical objects. 

4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, 
accounting for goods and services segregated? Yes, all these were separated. 

4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by 
someone other than those who make or approve 
payments? 

Yes 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial 
targets? Yes 

4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant 
activities in sufficient detail to provide a 
meaningful tool with which to monitor 
subsequent performance? 

Yes 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the 
budget with reasonable frequency, and 
explanations required for significant variations 
from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget 
required in advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and 
approval of budgets? 

Prepared by the financial sector, and approved by the 
managers of the company 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? 

All sectors provide the details of budgets, and the 
financial sector summarizes budgets from sectors and 
prepares a final one, which will be handed over to 
managers for the company’s review; finally, the 
governing department will issue the budgets. 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project 
activities, collect information from the units in 
charge of different projects, and prepare 
budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of 
project activities realistic, based on valid 
assumptions, and developed by knowledgeable 
individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures 
provide for:  

4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving 
reports be obtained directly from issuing 
departments? 

Yes 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, 
and terms with those indicated on the purchase 
order and with records of goods actually 
received? 

Yes, it must be compared. 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with 
those indicated on the receiving report? Yes, it must be done. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, all these must be checked in accuracy. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 
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4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of 
payroll? Conduct the regulation of work attendance strictly. 

4.22. How are changes to the payroll 
authorized? 

The changes of the payroll will be authorized by the chief 
of labor and salary sector, and approved by managers of 
the company. 

Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash 
or accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? The Accounting Standards of PRC 
4.25. Does the organization have adequate 
policies and procedures manual to guide 
activities and ensure staff accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure 
manual updated for project activities? No 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only 
authorized persons can alter or establish a new 
accounting principle, policy, or procedure to be 
used by the organization? 

Yes 

4.28. Are written policies and procedures 
covering all routine financial management and 
related administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define 
conflict of interest and related party transactions 
(real and apparent) and provide safeguards to 
protect the organization? 

No related party transactions in the company. 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate 
personnel? 

Yes, these are distributed to the staff in the finance of the 
company 

Cash and banking  
4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized 
signatories of the bank accounts. 

Ma Shichao, the chief of the financial sector 
Zhang Xiaoli, bookkeeper 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an 
adequate up-to-date cashbook, recording 
receipts and payments? 

Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following 
activities:  

4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection 
location? Yes 

4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook 
reconciled on a monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank 
reconciliation reviewed and approved by a 
responsible officer? 

Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? Yes, it will be done in 24 hours. 
Safeguarding Assets  

4.37. Describe the system to record assets and 
protect them from fraud, waste, and abuse? 

The general office will take care of physical objects, and 
the financial sector of the company will maintain the 
accounting book sheets. 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and 
stocks kept up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and 
stocks reconciled to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of 
fixed assets and stocks? At least once a year 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
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4.42. Are there other implementing agencies 
participating in implementation? No 

4.43. Has the Project Management Office 
(PMO) established controls and procedures for 
flow of funds, financial information, 
accountability, and audits in relation to other 
offices or implementing agencies? 

 

4.44. Does information among different 
implementing agencies flow in an accurate and 
timely fashion? 

 

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial 
information performed among the different 
implementing agencies? 

 

Other  
4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom 
to report if they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse 
of project resources or property? 

Yes, the PMO encourages employees, beneficiaries, and 
others to report fraud, waste or misuse of project 
resources or property freely. 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the 
organization? No 

5.2. What are the qualifications and experience 
of the internal audit department staff?  

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit 
department report? What is this individual’s 
position? 

 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this 
project in its work program?  

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit 
staff’s findings?  

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements 
audited regularly by an independent auditor? 
Who is the auditor? 

Yes, some independent agencies 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? One month after completion 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the 
entity? No 

6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according 
to International Standards on Auditing? No 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues 
brought up in the audit reports in the last three 
years? 

No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be appointed to 
audit the project’s financial statements? 

Yes, another auditor will audit it. 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by 
the independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been 
implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an 
independent governmental entity in addition to 
the external audit? 

Yes, audit from Chongqing Finance Bureau and Fuling 
District Audit Bureau 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms 
of reference for an annual project audit? Not yet 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the 
organization? Yes 

7.2. What accounting standards are used to 
prepare the organization’s financial statements? The state owed accounting regulations 
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7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the 
Implementing unit? No 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial 
statements’ presentation? 

The financial statements should be prepared in month, 
quarter, and year. 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a 
timely fashion so as to be useful to management 
for decision making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be 
adapted to report on the project sub-
components? 

Not necessary 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to 
link the financial information with the project’s 
physical progress? If a separate system is used 
to gather and compile physical data, what 
controls are in place to reduce the risk that the 
physical data may not synchronize with the 
financial data? 

Reconciled with the process of engineering. 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that 
specify which reports are to be prepared, what 
the reports contain, and how they are to be 
used? 

Yes, it covers balance sheet, construction investment 
sheet, allocation sheet of available funds, borrow funds 
sheet including financial statement, remarks of the 
statement, explanations of financial issues. These will 
help the managers, beneficiaries, and related agencies 
understand clearly about the financial situations from the 
reports. 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual 
expenditures with budgeted allocations? Yes 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by 
the automated accounting system or are they 
prepared by spreadsheets or some other 
means? 

Prepared by an automated accounting system 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system 
computerized? Yes 

8.2. Can the system produce the necessary 
project financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain 
the system? Yes, trained in financial software 

8.4. Does the management organization and 
processing system safeguard the confidentially, 
integrity, and availability of the data? 

Backed up frequently 
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Annex 2 
 

Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire  
Qianjiang District City Construction Investment (Group) Company Ltd 

Background Information  

Name of Organization Qianjiang District City Construction Investment 
(Group) Company Ltd. 

Subsub-component and projects for which the 
organization is responsible Houba to Huangxi Road, Qianjiang District 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Zeng Yan, the vice chief of financing sector of 
the company 

 
Topic Response 

1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  
1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / 

registration? 
It is state owed enterprise legally; the number 
registered is 50090000002714 

1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-
financed project in the past? (If yes, provide 
detailed project name) 

Yes, Zhengyang Avenue completed by the 
company, its investment is CNY480 million, of 
which USD29.6 million was borrowed from the 
World Bank 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? State Owed Assets Monitoring and Management 
Commission of Qianjiang, Chongqing 

1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 
Government? It a department of Qianjiang Government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements 
for your organization? 

Financial Statements and infrastructure process 
should be reported to financial and governing 
body for approval periodically. 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the 
needs of the project? Yes 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement  
2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including 

a chart and explanation of the flow of funds from 
ADB, government, and other financing sources. 

From ADB to Chongqing Finance Bureau, then 
to District Finance Bureau, and then to the 
Company 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the 
ADB loan from the … Finance Bureau to your 
organization satisfactory? 

It is adequate. 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in 
the receipt of ADB funds? No 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? Construction Bank of Chongqing 
2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have 

experience in the management of disbursements 
from ADB? 

No experience in management of disbursement 
from ADB 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? Yes 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for 
your subsub-component construction? 

Counterpart funds will be prepared in local 
financial budgets, and main resources will from 
varied taxes. 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Draw from revenues coming directly 
2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? No public fee/tariffs to be raised for the Project 
2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 

costs? No 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in 
kind are proper guidelines formulated to record 
and value the contribution? 

Yes, it will be if beneficiaries have contributed. 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? It will be transferred by banks, and will be paid in 
financial center of the county. 



16 

Topic Response 
3. Staffing  

3.1. What is your organization’s structure for 
accounting or finance department? (Attach an 
organization chart.) 

Principal financial monitor of the company 
↓ 

the financial sector of the company 
↓                    ↓                     ↓ 

Accountants Bookkeepers Internal auditors 

3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position 
title, responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Zhang Tingbo, the principal accountant, 
undergraduate of university, in charge of overall 
financial affairs in the company, accountant 
registered; 
Guo Yuwei, the chief of financial sector of the 
company, undergraduate of university. Takes 
responsibilities of the financial sector and funds 
transferring; accountant; 
Sun Yanquan, the voice of the financial sector, 
three years education in college, in charge of 
accounting check of the company, accountant; 
Feng Xiaoxia, the voice of the financial sector, 
undergraduate of university, in charge of receipt 
review and assets management. 
Other staff in finance: Wu ling, Huang Mei, Zeng 
Xiantao, Tang Fujian, Cheng Lihua, Xiang 
Dengfeng, they are in charge of accounting 
record deposit and archives, assets care, taxes 
report, internal audit. 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes 
will you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

Adequate staff would be arranged for the Project. 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? Yes 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the 
accounting staff? 

Qianjiang District State Assets Management 
Commission arranges periodic training, and all 
staff has position certification registered, which 
will be confirmed annually. 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  

4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 
which allows for proper recording of project 
financial transactions, including the allocation of 
expenditures in accordance with the respective 
subsub-components, disbursement categories, 
and source of funds? 

The project accounting will be checked 
separately; special persons will carry out 
disbursement and process of finance. The 
Regulations of Infrastructure Accounting will be 
carried out in the Project. 
The project accounting will be checked 
separately; special persons will carry out 
disbursement and process of finance. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? 

The Revenue generated Enterprises Accounting 
Regulations of PRC 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation 
and approval of transactions, ensuring that all 
transactions are correctly made and adequately 
explained? 

Yes, there are professional controls to ensure 
each transaction is correctly conducted, 
adequately explained, prepared and approved 
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4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly 

account for and report on project activities and 
disbursements categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with 
established agreements? 

Yes, allocation will be done in actual 
cost/average cost/irregular cost. 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents 
retained on a permanent basis in a defined system 
which allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities 

performed by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes, it is Guo Yuwei, the chief of the financial 
sector of the company. 

4.8.2. Record transactions Yes, it is Kong Yanquan, the voice of the 
financial sector of the company. 

4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in 
transaction 

Yes, it is Huang Mei, the accountant of the 
Project. 

4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, 
accounting for goods and services segregated? Yes, all these were separated. 

4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone 
other than those who make or approve payments? Yes 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Yes 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with 
which to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 
with reasonable frequency, and explanations 
required for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required 
in advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

Prepared by design sector and construction 
sector and the chief engineer of the company, 
and approved by relating department 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? Prepared by construction sector and reviewed by 
Audit agency 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of 
different projects, and prepare budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project 
activities realistic, based on valid assumptions, 
and developed by knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports 

be obtained directly from issuing departments? Yes 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and 
terms with those indicated on the purchase order 
and with records of goods actually received? 

Yes, it must be compared. 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes, it must be done. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, all these must be checked in accuracy. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
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4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? 
The payroll will be prepared by contracts and 
actual staff, according to salary standards, and 
checked by related department, and issued by 
personnel resource sector finally. 

4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? 
The changes will be done according to related 
files and documents, and issued by personnel 
sector. 

Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or 

accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? The Revenue generated Enterprises Accounting 
Regulations of PRC 

4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 
procedures manual to guide activities and ensure 
staff accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? No 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 
routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict 
of interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

The state is preferentially considered; then the 
enterprise’s benefits reconcile the staff’s in the 
end. 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? Yes, these are distributed to the staff relating to 
the finance in the company 

Cash and banking  

4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized 
signatories of the bank accounts. 

Xu Zhonglin, the chairman of the board of the 
company. 
Guo Yuwei, the chief of the financial sector. 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-
to-date cashbook, recording receipts and 
payments? 

Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on 

a monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation 
reviewed and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? Yes, it will be done in 24 hours. 
Safeguarding Assets  
4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 

them from fraud, waste, and abuse? 
A book record is necessary for fixed assets, and 
all assets must be checked at least once a year. 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks 
kept up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks 
reconciled to control accounts? Yes 
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4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed 

assets and stocks? At least once a year 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes, assets are covered partly by insurance 
policies. 

Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies 

participating in implementation? No 

4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 
established controls and procedures for flow of 
funds, financial information, accountability, and 
audits in relation to other offices or implementing 
agencies? 

 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion?  

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

 

Other  

4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to 
report if they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of 
project resources or property? 

Yes, the PMO encourages employees, 
beneficiaries, and others to report fraud, waste or 
misuse of project resources or property to 
governing body and local inspecting agencies, 
and report to justice if there are offenses of laws. 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the 

organization? No 

5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 
internal audit department staff?  

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit 
department report? What is this individual’s 
position? 

 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this 
project in its work program?  

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings?  

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes, it is Yinghe Accountants Affairs Company 
Ltd. of Chongqing. 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? Three months after completion 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? Not. 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues 
brought up in the audit reports in the last three 
years? 

No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be appointed to 
audit the project’s financial statements? 

Yes, another auditor will audit it. 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been 
implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an 
independent governmental entity in addition to the 
external audit? 

Yes, from Qianjiang District Finance Bureau and 
Qianjiang District Audit Bureau 
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6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 

reference for an annual project audit? Not yet 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the 

organization? Yes 

7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare 
the organization’s financial statements? Qianjiang District Finance Bureau 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the 
Implementing unit? No 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Monthly 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for 
decision making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? Not necessary 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link 
the financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather 
and compile physical data, what controls are in 
place to reduce the risk that the physical data may 
not synchronize with the financial data? 

Financial statement system issued by the PRC is 
adopted, which will show the process of the 
works effectively, and avoid contradictions 
between the physical project and the financial 
data. 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes, it covers Balance sheet, Cash sheet, Profit 
Sheet and Detailed Sheet of Available Payment. 
These will help beneficiaries determine the 
company’s abilities to pay debts and earn profit 
and understand the company very well. 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual 
expenditures with budgeted allocations? Yes 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 
automated accounting system or are they 
prepared by spreadsheets or some other means? 

Prepared by an automated accounting system 
directly 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system 

computerized? Yes 

8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 
financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the 
system? 

Yes, 48 hours class training in municipal or 
county level is necessary for all staff annually 
according to national requirement. 

8.4. Does the management organization and 
processing system safeguard the confidentially, 
integrity, and availability of the data? 

Yes, the company conducting the accounting 
sets up local area network, which will insure the 
confidentiality, integrity and availability of the 
data of the system. 
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Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire 
Youyang Autonomous County Longda Road Construction Investment Company Limited 

Background Information  

Name of Organization Youyang Autonomous County Longda Road 
Construction Investment Company Ltd. 

Subsub-component and projects for which the 
organization is responsible 

New Class IV road built from Ganxi to train 
station at Ganxi Township; rehabilitated and new 
Class IV road from Heishui to Maba at Heishui 
Township; Class IV road expanded from Shuicao 
to Yaojiatuo at Maoba Township 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Huli, the accountant of the company 
 

Topic Response 
1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  
1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / 

registration? 
It is state owed enterprise legally; the number of 
registered is 500242000001358. 

1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-
financed project in the past? (If yes, provide 
detailed project name) 

No 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Youyang County Transport Bureau 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? It a department of the government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements 
for your organization? 

Accounting sheets will be reconciled with 
physical engineering and reality 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the 
needs of the project? Yes 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement  

2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including 
a chart and explanation of the flow of funds from 
ADB, government, and other financing sources. 

From ADB to Chongqing Finance Bureau, then 
to County Finance Bureau, and then to County 
Transport Bureau, and after that to Longda 
Company and to construction agency finally 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the 
ADB loan from the … Finance Bureau to your 
organization satisfactory? 

Yes 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in 
the receipt of ADB funds? No 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? The branch of Youyang County, Agricultural 
Development Bank of China 

2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have 
experience in the management of disbursements 
from ADB? 

No experience in management of disbursement 
from ADB 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for 
your subsub-component construction? By government tax funds. 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Transferred by government directly 
2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? No public fee/tariffs to be raised for the Project 
2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 

costs? No 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in 
kind are proper guidelines formulated to record 
and value the contribution? 

Yes, it will be if beneficiaries have contributed. 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Payment will be transferred according to the 
progress of the Project. 
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3. Staffing  
3.1. What is your organization’s structure for 

accounting or finance department? (Attach an 
organization chart.) 

Deputy manager of the company 
↓                  ↓ 

Accountant Bookkeeper 

3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position 
title, responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Yang Jiguo, the deputy manager, economist; 
Huli, responsible for financial review and check, 
with three years education in College; 
Qiumei, bookkeeper 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes 
will you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

Not necessary to change the staff 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? No 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the 
accounting staff? 

Anticipated training arranged by county 
government and Chongqing Municipal DRC. 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  

4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 
which allows for proper recording of project 
financial transactions, including the allocation of 
expenditures in accordance with the respective 
subsub-components, disbursement categories, 
and source of funds? 

Including (1) contracts and agreements are the 
evidence for financial transactions; (2) check the 
financial statement monthly; (3) the amount of 
money must be paid based on actual works or 
goods completed. Specific persons should sign 
receipts, bills and other records and receivers 
must be matched with the contractors on the 
agreement. Obey the file of Ministry of 
Communication No issued in 230 in 2005. There 
is professional software to conduct all 
transactions in the company to ensure each 
transaction is correctly conducted, adequately 
explained, prepared and approved. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? 

The accounting system especially for small scale 
enterprises is adopted. 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation 
and approval of transactions, ensuring that all 
transactions are correctly made and adequately 
explained? 

Yes, there is professional software to conduct all 
transactions in the company to ensure each 
transaction is correctly conducted, adequately 
explained, prepared and approved. 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly 
account for and report on project activities and 
disbursements categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with 
established agreements? 

Yes, the allocation must be done according to 
agreements and regulations; direct expenditure 
and indirectly expenditure must be identified 
correctly; independent agencies must audit 
financial statements. 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents 
retained on a permanent basis in a defined system 
which allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
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4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities 

performed by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes, it is Yang Jiguo, the deputy manager of the 
company. 

4.8.2. Record transactions Yes, it is Huli, accountant. 
4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in 

transaction Yes, it is Huli, accountant 

4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, 
accounting for goods and services segregated? Yes, all these were separated. 

4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone 
other than those who make or approve payments? Yes 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Yes 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with 
which to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 
with reasonable frequency, and explanations 
required for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required 
in advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

Prepared by financial sector and approved by 
managers of the company. 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? Implementing unit compiles budgets, which will 
be approved and supervised by audit units. 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of 
different projects, and prepare budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project 
activities realistic, based on valid assumptions, 
and developed by knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports 

be obtained directly from issuing departments? Yes 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and 
terms with those indicated on the purchase order 
and with records of goods actually received? 

Yes, it must be compared. 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes, it must be done. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, all these must be checked in accuracy. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? 
The payroll is prepared on the actual staff in the 
company and approved by the manager of the 
company finally. 

4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? A joint managers meeting authorize a change of 
the payroll. 

Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or 

accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? The accountant standards of PRC 
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4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 

procedures manual to guide activities and ensure 
staff accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? No 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 
routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict 
of interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

The state is preferentially considered; then the 
enterprise’s benefits reconcile the staff’s in the 
end. 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? 
Yes, these are distributed to the chairman of 
board, general manager, the chief of accounting, 
and staff of accounting section. 

Cash and banking  

4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized 
signatories of the bank accounts. 

Huli, the accountant; 
Cheng Hai Yan, the director of general office of 
the company 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-
to-date cashbook, recording receipts and 
payments? 

Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on 

a monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation 
reviewed and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? The date received 
Safeguarding Assets  

4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 
them from fraud, waste, and abuse? 

The company has the record of fixed assets and 
other equipment against fraud, waste and abuse 
by check periodically. 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks 
kept up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks 
reconciled to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed 
assets and stocks? At least once a year 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies 

participating in implementation? No 

4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 
established controls and procedures for flow of 
funds, financial information, accountability, and 
audits in relation to other offices or implementing 
agencies? 

 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion?  
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4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 

performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

 

Other  

4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to 
report if they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of 
project resources or property? 

Yes, the PMO encourages employees, 
beneficiaries, and others to report fraud, waste or 
misuse of project resources or property to 
inspecting agencies directly by phone, 
anonymous letters, and other means available. 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the 

organization? Yes 

5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 
internal audit department staff? Rich experience in auditing 

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit 
department report? What is this individual’s 
position? 

Upper governments, the member of board, 
inspectors 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this 
project in its work program? Yes 

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings? No 

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes, it is Yuyou Accounting Affairs Office of 
Youyang. 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? Three months. 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? No 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues 
brought up in the audit reports in the last three 
years? 

No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be appointed to 
audit the project’s financial statements? 

Yes, another auditor will audit it. 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been 
implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an 
independent governmental entity in addition to the 
external audit? 

No 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Not yet 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the 

organization? Yes 

7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare 
the organization’s financial statements? 

Accounting Standards of State Owned 
Construction Units 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the 
Implementing unit? No 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Monthly 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for 
decision making? 

Yes 
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7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 

report on the project sub-components? Not necessary 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link 
the financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather 
and compile physical data, what controls are in 
place to reduce the risk that the physical data may 
not synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes, ensuring receipts and other evidence are 
logically, legal, and effective 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes, it covers Balance sheet, Cash sheet, Profit 
Sheet and Detailed Sheet of Available Payment. 
These will help beneficiaries determine 
company’s abilities to pay debts and earn profit 
and understand the company very well. 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual 
expenditures with budgeted allocations? Yes 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 
automated accounting system or are they 
prepared by spreadsheets or some other means? 

Prepared by an automated accounting system 
directly 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system 

computerized? Yes 

8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 
financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the 
system? 

Yes, operation of basic skills of computer and 
financial software 

8.4. Does the management organization and 
processing system safeguard the confidentially, 
integrity, and availability of the data? 

Yes, fixed person with a password 
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Financial Management Questionnaire 
Xiushan Huaxin State Assets Company Ltd. 

Background Information  
Name of Organization Xiushan Huaxin State Assets Company Ltd. 
Subsub-component and projects for which the organization 
is responsible Road construction from Meijiang to Yunyi 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Longhua, accountant 
 

Topic Response 
1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  
1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / registration? The registered number is 500241000000981 
1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-financed 

project in the past? (If yes, provide detailed project 
name) 

No 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Xiushan County Finance Bureau 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? The department of the government 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements for 
your organization? Preciously, punctually, and with integrity 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the needs 
of the project? Yes 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement  
2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including a 

chart and explanation of the flow of funds from ADB, 
government, and other financing sources. 

From ADB to Municipal Government, then to 
Xiushan County Government, and to 
implementing unit or goods suppliers 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the ADB 
loan from the … Finance Bureau to your organization 
satisfactory? 

Satisfied 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in the 
receipt of ADB funds? 

Have not ever been trained on ADB’s 
requirement 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? The branch of Agricultural Bank of China 
2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have experience 

in the management of disbursements from ADB? No 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for your 
subsub-component construction? Xiushan County Finance Bureau 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Xiushan County Finance Bureau 

2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? Approved by People’s Representative 
Congress in Xiushan County 

2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 
costs? No 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in kind 
are proper guidelines formulated to record and value 
the contribution? 

Yes 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Disbursement directly 
3. Staffing  

3.1. What is your organization’s structure for accounting or 
finance department? (Attach an organization chart.) 

Deputy manager of the company 
↓             ↓ 

Accountant Bookkeeper 
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3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position title, 

responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Longhua, chief accountant, check and review 
funding resource undergraduate; 
Yang Xurui, accountant, check receipt, three 
years college education 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes will 
you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

Add a full time staff who will be in charge of 
sub-component engineering works and 
funding monitoring 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Adequate 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? No 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

No 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the accounting 
staff? 

Professional course training by accountant 
affairs agency 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  
4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 

which allows for proper recording of project financial 
transactions, including the allocation of expenditures 
in accordance with the respective subsub-
components, disbursement categories, and source of 
funds? 

Yes 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? 

Enterprise accounting system will be 
adopted. 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation and 
approval of transactions, ensuring that all transactions 
are correctly made and adequately explained? 

Yes 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly account 
for and report on project activities and disbursements 
categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with established 
agreements? 

Yes 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents retained 
on a permanent basis in a defined system which 
allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities performed 

by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes 
4.8.2. Record transactions Yes 
4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in transaction Yes 
4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, accounting 

for goods and services segregated? Yes, these procedures are segregated. 

4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone other 
than those who make or approve payments? Yes 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Yes 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with which 
to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 
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4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 

with reasonable frequency, and explanations required 
for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required in 
advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

The budget preparation commission and the 
board of the company 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? Approved by the budget preparation 
commission in Xiushan County 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of different 
projects, and prepare budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project activities 
realistic, based on valid assumptions, and developed 
by knowledgeable individuals? 

No 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports be 

obtained directly from issuing departments? Yes 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and terms 
with those indicated on the purchase order and with 
records of goods actually received? 

Yes 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, accuracy will be checked strictly. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? Approved by project management section 
and integrated section in advance 

4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? And then approved by vice manager of the 
company finally 

Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or accrual)? Accrual 
4.24. What accounting standards are followed? The standards of PRC 
4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 

procedures manual to guide activities and ensure staff 
accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? Yes 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 
routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict of 
interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? Yes 
Cash and banking  
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4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized signatories 
of the bank accounts. 

Liu Dapeng, the Chairman of the board of the 
company; 
Bai Changjiang, the vice manager of the 
company; 
Longhua, accounting section 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-to-
date cashbook, recording receipts and payments? Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on a 

monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation reviewed 
and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? The data received 
Safeguarding Assets  
4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 

them from fraud, waste, and abuse? 
Keep physical goods and accounting books 
separately. 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks kept 
up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks reconciled 
to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed assets 
and stocks? One quarter 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies participating in 

implementation? Yes 

4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 
established controls and procedures for flow of funds, 
financial information, accountability, and audits in 
relation to other offices or implementing agencies? 

Yes, procedures will be established in CQ 
PMO. 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion? Yes 

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

Yes 

Other  
4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to report if 

they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of project 
resources or property? 

Yes 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the organization? Yes 
5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 

internal audit department staff? 
Assistant accountant with two years of 
experience. 

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit department 
report? What is this individual’s position? 

Liu Dapeng, the chairman of the board of the 
company 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this project 
in its work program? Yes 

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings? Report to related agencies/persons 

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes, it is Jianyun Accounting Affairs Office of 
Chongqing 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? Three months after the year end. 
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6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? No 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues brought up 
in the audit reports in the last three years? No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project accounts 
or will another auditor be appointed to audit the 
project’s financial statements? 

Yes 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been implemented? 

No, all of them had been implemented. 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an independent 
governmental entity in addition to the external audit? Yes 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Yes 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the organization? Yes 
7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare the 

organization’s financial statements? 
Enterprise’s regulations and standards of 
China 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the Implementing 
unit? Yes 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Monthly 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for decision 
making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? Yes 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link the 
financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather and 
compile physical data, what controls are in place to 
reduce the risk that the physical data may not 
synchronize with the financial data? 

An enterprise management system titled 
Yongyou is adopted. 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual expenditures 
with budgeted allocations? Yes 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 
automated accounting system or are they prepared by 
spreadsheets or some other means? 

Yes, the enterprise’s management system 
titled in Yongyou is used. 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system computerized? Yes 
8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 

financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the system? Yes 
8.4. Does the management organization and processing 

system safeguard the confidentially, integrity, and 
availability of the data? 

Yes 
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Financial Management Questionnaire  
Yunyang County Transport Company Ltd. 

Background Information  
Name of Organization Yunyang County Transport Company Ltd. 

Subsub-component and projects for which the organization 
is responsible 

Yaoling to Qingshui Road, 
Yanglu Township Road, 
Nongba Town Road, 
Nixi Town Road 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Zhu Xuguang 
 
Topic Response 
1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency Transport Ltd. Company of Yunyang 
1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / registration? State Owed Enterprise 
1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-financed 

project in the past? (If yes, provide detailed project 
name) 

No 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Transport Bureau of Yunyang 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? It is a department of the government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements for 
your organization? Yes 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the needs 
of the project? Yes 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement Yes 

2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including a 
chart and explanation of the flow of funds from ADB, 
government, and other financing sources. 

From ADB to Chongqing Municipality to 
County financial Bureau to Transport 
Company to implementing agencies/goods 
suppliers. 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the ADB 
loan from the … Finance Bureau to your organization 
satisfactory? 

Yes 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in the 
receipt of ADB funds? No 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? The branch of Construction Bank of China 
2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have experience 

in the management of disbursements from ADB? Yes 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for your 
subsub-component construction? From state funds resource 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Transfer from municipality and state 
2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? No 
2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 

costs? Yes 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in kind 
are proper guidelines formulated to record and value 
the contribution? 

Yes 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Transfer 
3. Staffing  

3.1. What is your organization’s structure for accounting or 
finance department? (Attach an organization chart.) 

Chief of financial sector 
↓                  ↓ 

Accountant Bookkeeper 
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3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position title, 

responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Cheng Guanyun, accountant, who is in 
charge of transaction check, three years 
education in college 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes will 
you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

Add part time staff 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? No 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the accounting 
staff? Yes 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures Yes 
General  
4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 

which allows for proper recording of project financial 
transactions, including the allocation of expenditures 
in accordance with the respective subsub-
components, disbursement categories, and source of 
funds? 

Yes 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? 

The financial system for small scale 
enterprises is adopted. 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation and 
approval of transactions, ensuring that all transactions 
are correctly made and adequately explained? 

Yes 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly account 
for and report on project activities and disbursements 
categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with established 
agreements? 

Yes 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents retained 
on a permanent basis in a defined system which 
allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities performed 

by different units or persons: Yes 

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes 
4.8.2. Record transactions Yes 
4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in transaction Yes 
4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, accounting 

for goods and services segregated? Yes 

4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone other 
than those who make or approve payments? Yes 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Yes 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with which 
to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 
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4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 

with reasonable frequency, and explanations required 
for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required in 
advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

The budget will be prepared by the 
engineering sector and financial sector, and 
be approved by the general manager of the 
company. 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? Regulation and standards existed, and also 
FSRs 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of different 
projects, and prepare budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project activities 
realistic, based on valid assumptions, and developed 
by knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for: Yes 
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports be 

obtained directly from issuing departments? 
Yes, these copies will be obtained directly 
from issuing departments. 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and terms 
with those indicated on the purchase order and with 
records of goods actually received? 

Yes 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Ye 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? Obey state and municipal standards and 
regulations 

4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? Follow policies and standards, and approved 
by upper departments 

Policies and Procedures Yes 
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or accrual)? Accrual 
4.24. What accounting standards are followed? Accountant Standards of China 
4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 

procedures manual to guide activities and ensure staff 
accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? Yes 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 
routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict of 
interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? Yes 
Cash and banking  
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4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized signatories 

of the bank accounts. 
Cheng Mingyong, the legal representative of 
the company 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-to-
date cashbook, recording receipts and payments? Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities: Yes 
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? No 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on a 

monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation reviewed 
and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? One day 
Safeguarding Assets  
4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 

them from fraud, waste, and abuse? Yes 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks kept 
up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks reconciled 
to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed assets 
and stocks? One month 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies No 
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies participating in 

implementation? Yes 

4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 
established controls and procedures for flow of funds, 
financial information, accountability, and audits in 
relation to other offices or implementing agencies? 

Yes 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion? Yes 

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

Yes 

Other  
4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to report if 

they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of project 
resources or property? 

Yes 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the organization? Yes 
5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 

internal audit department staff? Accountants 

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit department 
report? What is this individual’s position? The general manager of the company 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this project 
in its work program? Yes 

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings? 

Confirm issues and report to upper 
departments 

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? Audit report will be issued when the project 
had been completed. 

6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
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6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? Yes 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues brought up 
in the audit reports in the last three years? No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project accounts 
or will another auditor be appointed to audit the 
project’s financial statements? 

Yes 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an independent 
governmental entity in addition to the external audit? Yes 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Yes 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the organization? Yes 
7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare the 

organization’s financial statements? The Accounting Standards of China 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the Implementing 
unit? Yes 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Yes 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for decision 
making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? Yes 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link the 
financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather and 
compile physical data, what controls are in place to 
reduce the risk that the physical data may not 
synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual expenditures 
with budgeted allocations? Yes 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 
automated accounting system or are they prepared by 
spreadsheets or some other means? 

Yes 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system computerized? Yes 
8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 

financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the system? Yes 
8.4. Does the management organization and processing 

system safeguard the confidentially, integrity, and 
availability of the data? 

Yes 
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Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire  
Fengjie County Roads and Bridges Company 

Background Information  
Name of Organization Fengjie County Roads and Bridges Company 

Subsub-component and projects for which the 
organization is responsible 

Hongtu Township Road; 
Caotang Town Road; 
Qinglong Town Road; 
Tuxiang Town Road. 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Li Xiangdong, Construction and Management 
Sector of Fengjie County Transport Bureau 

 
Topic Response 

1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  
1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / 

registration? 
It is a state owed enterprise, and registered 
legally. 

1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-
financed project in the past? (If yes, provide 
detailed project name) 

No 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Transport Bureau of Fengjie County 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? It a department of the government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements 
for your organization? 

Accounting sheets will be reconciled with 
physical engineering and the facts. 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the 
needs of the project? 

Yes, a special account will be set up for ADB 
project. 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement  
2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including 

a chart and explanation of the flow of funds from 
ADB, government, and other financing sources. 

From ADB to Chongqing Financial bureau, then 
to County Finance Bureau, and then to the 
company 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the 
ADB loan from the … Finance Bureau to your 
organization satisfactory? 

Yes 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in 
the receipt of ADB funds? No 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? The branch of Industrial Bank of China 
2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have 

experience in the management of disbursements 
from ADB? 

No experience in management of disbursement 
from ADB 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for 
your subsub-component construction? From taxes and other funds 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Transferred by government directly 
2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? No public fee/tariffs to be raised for the Project 
2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 

costs? No 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in 
kind are proper guidelines formulated to record 
and value the contribution? 

Yes, it will be if beneficiaries have contributed. 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Payment will be transferred according to the 
progress of the Project. 

3. Staffing  
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3.1. What is your organization’s structure for 

accounting or finance department? (Attach an 
organization chart.) 

Chief of financial sector 
↓                    ↓                  ↓ 

Chief accountant Accountant Bookkeeper 

3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position 
title, responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Zheng Guoming, the chief of financial sector, 
undergraduate from university, accountant 
registered; 
Kuangliang, the deputy of financial sector, 
undergraduate from university, accountant 
registered; 
Wang Daqing, chief accountant, three years 
education in college, and assistant accountant; 
Cheng Bing, accountant, three years education; 
Cai Shun Feng, bookkeeper, three years 
education. 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes 
will you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

Not necessary to change the staff 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? No 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the 
accounting staff? 

Anticipate training arranged by financial bureaus, 
roads bureaus and audit bureaus in county and 
municipality periodically 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  

4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 
which allows for proper recording of project 
financial transactions, including the allocation of 
expenditures in accordance with the respective 
subsub-components, disbursement categories, 
and source of funds? 

Including (1) contracts and agreements are the 
evidence for financial transactions; (2) check the 
financial statement monthly; (3) the amount of 
money must be paid based on actual 
engineering or goods completed. Specific 
persons should sign receipts, bills and others 
and receivers must be matched with the 
contractors on the agreement. Obey the file of 
Ministry of Communication No 230 in 2005. 
There is professional software to conduct all 
transactions in the company to ensure each 
transaction is correctly conducted, adequately 
explained, prepared and approved. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? 

The accounting system especially for small scale 
enterprises is adopted. 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation 
and approval of transactions, ensuring that all 
transactions are correctly made and adequately 
explained? 

Yes, there is a professional software to conduct 
all transactions in the company to ensure each 
transaction is correctly conducted, adequately 
explained, prepared and approved 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly 
account for and report on project activities and 
disbursements categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with 
established agreements? 

Yes, the allocation must be done according to 
agreements and regulations; Direct expenditure 
and indirectly expenditure must be identified 
correctly; Independent agencies must audit 
financial statements. 
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4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 

reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents 
retained on a permanent basis in a defined system 
which allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities 

performed by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes, it is Zheng Guoming, the chief of the 
financial sector. 

4.8.2. Record transactions Yes, it is Cai Shun Feng, bookkeeper 
4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in 

transaction Yes, it is Cai Shun Feng, bookkeeper. 

4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, 
accounting for goods and services segregated? Yes, all these were separated. 

4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone 
other than those who make or approve payments? Yes 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Yes 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with 
which to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 
with reasonable frequency, and explanations 
required for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required 
in advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

Prepared by financial sector and approved by the 
general manager of the company. 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? 
Implementing sectors compiles budgets, which 
will be approved by Transportation Bureau of 
Fengjie County. 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of 
different projects, and prepare budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project 
activities realistic, based on valid assumptions, 
and developed by knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports 

be obtained directly from issuing departments? Yes 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and 
terms with those indicated on the purchase order 
and with records of goods actually received? 

Yes, it must be compared. 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes, it must be done. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, all these must be checked in accuracy. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? 
The payroll is prepared on actual staff in the 
company and proved by the manager of the 
company finally. 
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4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? A joint manager meeting will authorize a change 

of payroll. 
Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or 

accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? The accountant standards of PRC 
4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 

procedures manual to guide activities and ensure 
staff accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? No 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 
routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict 
of interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

The state is preferentially considered; then the 
enterprise’s benefits reconcile the staff’s in the 
end. 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? 
Yes, these are distributed to the general 
manager of the company, the chief of the 
financial sector. 

Cash and banking  
4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized 

signatories of the bank accounts. 
Zheng Guoming, the chief of the financial sector; 
Cai Shunfang, the bookkeeper 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-
to-date cashbook, recording receipts and 
payments? 

Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on 

a monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation 
reviewed and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? The date received 
Safeguarding Assets  

4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 
them from fraud, waste, and abuse? 

The company appoints a person to record 
assets, and checks the record periodically, and 
keeps the book and physics matched. 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks 
kept up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks 
reconciled to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed 
assets and stocks? At least once a year 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies 

participating in implementation? No 
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4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 

established controls and procedures for flow of 
funds, financial information, accountability, and 
audits in relation to other offices or implementing 
agencies? 

 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion?  

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

 

Other  
4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to 

report if they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of 
project resources or property? 

Yes, the PMO hangs a box in a place and sets 
up a phone for reporting specially; it is 
convenient to report by phone, letters and orally. 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the 

organization? Yes 

5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 
internal audit department staff? 

One assistant accountant and one assistant 
auditor respectively with 20 years experience in 
accounting and 10 years experience in auditing 

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit 
department report? What is this individual’s 
position? 

The general manger of the company 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this 
project in its work program? Yes 

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings? No 

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? One month 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? Not. 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues 
brought up in the audit reports in the last three 
years? 

No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be appointed to 
audit the project’s financial statements? 

Yes, another auditor will audit it. 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been 
implemented? 

Yes, such as deduction over payment and 
exposure of activities in the company, and 
change of the staff position 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an 
independent governmental entity in addition to the 
external audit? 

Yes, it is Audit Bureaus of Chongqing and 
Fengjie Counties, as well as other agencies. 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Not yet 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the 

organization? Yes 

7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare 
the organization’s financial statements? The accountant standards of PRC 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the 
Implementing unit? No 
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7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 

presentation? 10 days 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for 
decision making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? Not necessary 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link 
the financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather 
and compile physical data, what controls are in 
place to reduce the risk that the physical data may 
not synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes, check physical and financial data punctually 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes, it covers the progress of engineering works, 
the progress of capital used, the engineering 
works completed, and the works construction. 
These will be handed over Transport Bureau of 
Fengjie County, banks, Tax Bureau, and state 
owed assets supervisor for review. 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual 
expenditures with budgeted allocations? Yes 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 
automated accounting system or are they 
prepared by spreadsheets or some other means? 

Prepared both by an automated accounting 
system and spreadsheets or other method 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system 

computerized? Yes 

8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 
financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the 
system? 

Yes, operation skills for special software for 
accounting 

8.4. Does the management organization and 
processing system safeguard the confidentially, 
integrity, and availability of the data? 

Yes, outline of internet operation 
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Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire 
Wushan County Transport Development Company 

Background Information  

Name of Organization Wushan County Transport Development 
Company  

Subsub-component and projects for which the organization 
is responsible 

Baishui Village Road, Shili Village Road, 
Baiquan Village Road, Hongmiao Village 
Road, Hongmiao Village Road 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire  
 

Topic Response 

1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency Transport Development Ltd Company of 
Wushan 

1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / registration? It is state owed company with CNY60 million 
registered funds. 

1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-financed 
project in the past? (If yes, provide detailed project 
name) 

NO 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Transport Bureau of Wushan 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? It is a department of the government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements for 
your organization? No 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the needs 
of the project? Yes 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement  

2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including a 
chart and explanation of the flow of funds from ADB, 
government, and other financing sources. 

The funds from ADB to Municipal 
government, then to Wushan county 
government, and to implementing unit or 
goods suppliers 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the ADB 
loan from the … Finance Bureau to your organization 
satisfactory? 

Yes 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in the 
receipt of ADB funds? No 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? The branch of Construction Bank, China 
2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have experience 

in the management of disbursements from ADB? Yes 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for your 
subsub-component construction? Local financial funds. 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed?  
Transfer directly. 

2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? 

The tariffs will be offered by the county 
government and must be approved by 
People’s Representative Congress in the 
county, and all receivers will be included in 
the budgets of the county. 
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2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 

costs? No 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in kind 
are proper guidelines formulated to record and value 
the contribution? 

No 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Transfer 
3. Staffing  

3.1. What is your organization’s structure for accounting or 
finance department? (Attach an organization chart.) 

the chief engineer of the company  
↓ ↓  

accountant bookkeeper 

3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position title, 
responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Kan Detan, the chief engineer of the 
company, undergraduate of university, 
accountant registered, who is in charging of 
whole financial affairs in the company. 
Ren Ming, the chief accountant, who is 
checking dairy financial process and prepare 
financial statement annually. 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes will 
you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

A sector for ADB project will be set specially, 
and some staff will be moved the sector. 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? No 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the accounting 
staff? Train for financial certification once a year. 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  
4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 

which allows for proper recording of project financial 
transactions, including the allocation of expenditures 
in accordance with the respective subsub-
components, disbursement categories, and source of 
funds? 

Yes, financial software is used. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use?  

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation and 
approval of transactions, ensuring that all transactions 
are correctly made and adequately explained? 

Yes 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly account 
for and report on project activities and disbursements 
categories? 

Yes it is adequate. 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with established 
agreements? 

Yes 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 
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4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents retained 

on a permanent basis in a defined system which 
allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities performed 

by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes 
4.8.2. Record transactions Yes 
4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in transaction Yes 
4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, accounting 

for goods and services segregated? It is separated. 

4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone other 
than those who make or approve payments? Yes 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Physical and financial targets were included. 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with which 
to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 
with reasonable frequency, and explanations required 
for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required in 
advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

The sector of finance prepares the budgets, 
and will be approved by the chairman of the 
board of the company. 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? First phase, it is from top to bottom, then up 
way from bottom to top. 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of different 
projects, and prepare budgets? 

No 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project activities 
realistic, based on valid assumptions, and developed 
by knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports be 

obtained directly from issuing departments? No 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and terms 
with those indicated on the purchase order and with 
records of goods actually received? 

Yes, comparison is necessary and always 
done. 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? 

Yes, invoice quantities will compared with 
those indicated on the receiving report. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, it is. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? The payroll is prepared and managed by 
different classes. 
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4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? Prepared by personnel sector and approved 
by the general manager. 

Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? Revenue Generating Enterprises Accounting 
Regulations  

4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 
procedures manual to guide activities and ensure staff 
accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? Updated slightly 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 
routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict of 
interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? Yes the manuals will be distributed to 
appropriate personnel. 

Cash and banking  
4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized signatories 

of the bank accounts. Ren Ming, the chief accountant 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-to-
date cashbook, recording receipts and payments? Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues?  
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on a 

monthly basis? Yes, those should be balance monthly. 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation reviewed 
and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? Three months 
Safeguarding Assets  
4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 

them from fraud, waste, and abuse? Yes 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks kept 
up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks reconciled 
to control accounts? Yes, those should be reconciled. 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed assets 
and stocks? Normally, it is a year. 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies participating in 

implementation? No 
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4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 

established controls and procedures for flow of funds, 
financial information, accountability, and audits in 
relation to other offices or implementing agencies? 

Yes 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion? Yes 

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

Reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies will be done periodically. 

Other  
4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to report if 

they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of project 
resources or property? 

Report to the chairman of the board. 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the organization? Yes 
5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 

internal audit department staff? Yes 

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit department 
report? What is this individual’s position? The chairman of the board. 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this project 
in its work program? Yes 

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings? 

Report to the chairman of the board, and 
correct the findings by effective ways 

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? In half a year 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? No 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues brought up 
in the audit reports in the last three years? No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project accounts 
or will another auditor be appointed to audit the 
project’s financial statements? 

Yes 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an independent 
governmental entity in addition to the external audit? Yes 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? No 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the organization? Yes 
7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare the 

organization’s financial statements? The accountant standards of PRC 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the Implementing 
unit? Yes 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Monthly 
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7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 

fashion so as to be useful to management for decision 
making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? No 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link the 
financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather and 
compile physical data, what controls are in place to 
reduce the risk that the physical data may not 
synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual expenditures 
with budgeted allocations? Yes, compared 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 
automated accounting system or are they prepared by 
spreadsheets or some other means? 

Prepared automatically by an accounting 
system 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system computerized? Yes 
8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 

financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the system? Yes, trained. 
8.4. Does the management organization and processing 

system safeguard the confidentially, integrity, and 
availability of the data? 

Yes 
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Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire  
Chengkou County Road Bureau 

Background Information  
Name of Organization Chengkou County Road Bureau 
Subsub-component and projects for which the 
organization is responsible Chengguan Second Road Construction 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Li Yun, the chief of financial section 
 

Topic Response 
1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  
1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / 

registration? 
It is a department attached to Chengkou County 
Transport Bureau 

1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-
financed project in the past? (If yes, provide 
detailed project name) 

No 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Chengkou County Transport Bureau. 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? It a department of the government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements 
for your organization? 

Accounting sheets will be reconciled with 
physical works and facts. 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the 
needs of the project? Yes 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement  

2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including 
a chart and explanation of the flow of funds from 
ADB, government, and other financing sources. 

From ADB to Chongqing Finance Bureau, then 
to County Finance Bureau, and then to the 
Chengkou County Road Bureau. 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the 
ADB loan from the … Finance Bureau to your 
organization satisfactory? 

Yes 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in 
the receipt of ADB funds? No 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? The branch of Agricultural Bank of China 
2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have 

experience in the management of disbursements 
from ADB? 

No experience in management of disbursement 
from ADB 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for 
your subsub-component construction? By government tax funds 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Transferred by government directly 
2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? No public fee/tariffs to be raised for the Project 
2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 

costs? No 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in 
kind are proper guidelines formulated to record 
and value the contribution? 

Yes, it will be if beneficiaries have contributed. 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Payment will be transferred according to the 
progress of the Project. 

3. Staffing  
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3.1. What is your organization’s structure for 
accounting or finance department? (Attach an 
organization chart.) 

Financial section of the company 
↓                  ↓ 

Accountant Bookkeeper 
3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position 

title, responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Li Yun, the chief of financial sector of the bureau, 
accountant. 
Lu Xiaohui, bookkeeper. 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes 
will you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

Not necessary to change the staff 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? No 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the 
accounting staff? 

Anticipated training arranged by County 
Government and Chongqing Municipal DRC. 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  

4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 
which allows for proper recording of project 
financial transactions, including the allocation of 
expenditures in accordance with the respective 
subsub-components, disbursement categories, 
and source of funds? 

Including (1) contracts and agreements are the 
evidence for financial transactions; (2) check the 
financial statement monthly; (3) the amount of 
money must be paid based on actual 
engineering works or goods completed. Specific 
persons should sign receipts, bills and others 
and receivers must be matched with the 
contractors on the agreement. Obey the file of 
Ministry of Communication No 230 in 2005. 
There is professional software to conduct all 
transactions in the company to ensure each 
transaction is correctly conducted, adequately 
explained, prepared and approved. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? The Accounting Standards of PRC 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation 
and approval of transactions, ensuring that all 
transactions are correctly made and adequately 
explained? 

Yes, there is professional software to conduct all 
transactions in the company to ensure each 
transaction is correctly conducted, adequately 
explained, prepared and approved. 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly 
account for and report on project activities and 
disbursements categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with 
established agreements? 

Yes, the allocation must be done according to 
agreements and regulations; Direct expenditure 
and indirectly expenditure must be identified 
correctly; Independent agencies must audit 
financial statements. 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents 
retained on a permanent basis in a defined system 
which allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 
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Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities 

performed by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes, it is Li Yun, the chief of financial sector of 
the bureau, accountant. 

4.8.2. Record transactions Yes, it is Lu Xiaohui, bookkeeper. 
4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in 

transaction Yes, it is Lu Xiaohui, bookkeeper. 

4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, 
accounting for goods and services segregated? Yes, all these were separated. 

4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone 
other than those who make or approve payments? Yes 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Yes 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with 
which to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 
with reasonable frequency, and explanations 
required for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required 
in advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

Prepared by financial sector and approved by the 
director of the bureau 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? Implementing sector compiles budgets, which will 
be approved and supervised by audit units. 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of 
different projects, and prepare budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project 
activities realistic, based on valid assumptions, 
and developed by knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports 

be obtained directly from issuing departments? Yes 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and 
terms with those indicated on the purchase order 
and with records of goods actually received? 

Yes, it must be compared. 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes, it must be done. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, all these must be checked in accuracy. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? 
The payroll is prepared on actual staff in the 
bureau and proved by the directors of the 
bureau. 

4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? The director of the bureau will authorize the 
change of payroll. 

Policies and Procedures  
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4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or 

accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? The Accounting Standards of PRC 
4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 

procedures manual to guide activities and ensure 
staff accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? No 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 
routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict 
of interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

The state is preferentially considered; then the 
enterprise’s benefits reconcile the staff’s in the 
end. 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? 
Yes, these are distributed to the chairman of the 
board, general manager, the chief of accounting, 
and staff of accounting section. 

Cash and banking  

4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized 
signatories of the bank accounts. 

Cheng Liyao, the director of the bureau; 
Li Yun, the chief of financial sector; 
Lu Xiaohui, bookkeeper 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-
to-date cashbook, recording receipts and 
payments? 

Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on 

a monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation 
reviewed and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? The date received 
Safeguarding Assets  

4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 
them from fraud, waste, and abuse? 

The bureau has the record of fixed assets and 
other equipment against fraud, waste and abuse 
by periodic checks. 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks 
kept up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks 
reconciled to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed 
assets and stocks? At least once a year 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies 

participating in implementation? No 
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4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 

established controls and procedures for flow of 
funds, financial information, accountability, and 
audits in relation to other offices or implementing 
agencies? 

 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion?  

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

 

Other  

4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to 
report if they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of 
project resources or property? 

Yes, the PMO encourages employees, 
beneficiaries, and others to report fraud, waste or 
misuse of project resources or property to 
inspecting agencies directly by phone, 
anonymous letters, and other means available. 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the 

organization? No 

5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 
internal audit department staff?  

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit 
department report? What is this individual’s 
position? 

 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this 
project in its work program?  

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings?  

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

No 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? Three months 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? No 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues 
brought up in the audit reports in the last three 
years? 

No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be appointed to 
audit the project’s financial statements? 

Yes, it is Chengkou County Audit Bureau. 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been 
implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an 
independent governmental entity in addition to the 
external audit? 

No 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Not yet 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the 

organization? Yes 
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7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare 

the organization’s financial statements? The Accounting Standards of PRC 
7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the 

Implementing unit? No 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Monthly 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for 
decision making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? Not necessary 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link 
the financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather 
and compile physical data, what controls are in 
place to reduce the risk that the physical data may 
not synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes, ensuring receipts and other evidence are 
logical, legal, and effective 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes, it covers Balance sheet, Cash sheet, Profit 
Sheet and Detailed Sheet of Available Payment. 
These will help beneficiaries determine the 
company’s abilities to pay debts and earn profit 
and understand the company very well. 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual 
expenditures with budgeted allocations? Yes 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 
automated accounting system or are they 
prepared by spreadsheets or some other means? 

Prepared by an automated accounting system 
directly 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system 

computerized? Yes 

8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 
financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the 
system? 

Yes, operation of basic skills of computer and 
financial software. 

8.4. Does the management organization and 
processing system safeguard the confidentially, 
integrity, and availability of the data? 

Yes, fixed person with a password. 
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Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire  
Chongqing Municipality (Youyang) Xinyou Water Supply Company Limited 

Background Information  

Name of Organization Chongqing Municipality (Youyang) Xinyou 
Water Supply Company Ltd. 

Subsub-component and projects for which the organization 
is responsible 

1. Longtan Town Water Supply, 2. Mawang 
Town Water Supply 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Wang Mingyan, the chief of financial section 
 

Topic Response 
1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  

1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / registration? 
State Revenue generated enterprise; the 
registered number is Youyang 
00242000004796  

1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-financed 
project in the past? (If yes, provide detailed project 
name) 

 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Youyang Water Conservancy Bureau 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? It is a department of the government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements for 
your organization? 

The record should be matched with the 
physical matter, and provide financial 
statement monthly. 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the needs 
of the project? Yes 

2.  Funds Flow Arrangement  

2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including a 
chart and explanation of the flow of funds from ADB, 
government, and other financing sources. 

From ADB to Chongqing Finance Bureau to 
Youyang Finance Bureau to Youyang Water 
Conservancy Bureau to Xinyou Water Supply 
Company 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the ADB 
loan from the … Finance Bureau to your organization 
satisfactory? 

Yes 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in the 
receipt of ADB funds? No experience implementing ADB’s funds 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? The Branch of Youyang, Agricultural Bank of 
China 

2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have experience 
in the management of disbursements from ADB? 

No experience in the management of 
disbursement from ADB 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes, local government finance 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for your 
subsub-component construction? By government tax funds 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Transferred by local government’s finance 
annually 

2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? No tariff be used to help fund the Project 
2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 

costs? No requirement 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in 
kind are proper guidelines formulated to record and 
value the contribution? 

No 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Payment will be made to reconcile with the 
progress of the works. 

3. Staffing  
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3.1. What is your organization’s structure for accounting 

or finance department? (Attach an organization 
chart.) 

Chief of finance of the company 
↓                    ↓ 

Bookkeepers Cost checker  

3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position title, 
responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Wang Mingyan, responsible for financial 
review and check, three years educated in 
College; Tian Hua, bookkeeper, three years 
educated in College 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes 
will you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

One more bookkeeper will be added in 
financial sector. 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? 

No, Municipal PMO will arrange these 
according to the requirement of ADB and local 
departments. 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the accounting 
staff? 

All staff is required to obtain certification and 
be trained professionally in certain durations, 
and all documents should be audited annually. 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  
4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 

which allows for proper recording of project financial 
transactions, including the allocation of expenditures 
in accordance with the respective subsub-
components, disbursement categories, and source of 
funds? 

Match the requirement in general. (1) The 
company has an accounting system to record 
financial transactions. (2) Transactions will be 
noted based on actual bills, and all subsub-
components will be recorded separately. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? 

The financial system for small scale 
enterprises is adopted. 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation and 
approval of transactions, ensuring that all 
transactions are correctly made and adequately 
explained? 

Control measurements include: (1) all receipts 
and travel checks will be signed; (2) and 
receivers of money must be matched with the 
seal on the contract. 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly 
account for and report on project activities and 
disbursements categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with established 
agreements? 

Yes, all cost allocations to various funding 
sources are made accurately and in 
accordance with established agreement. 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents 
retained on a permanent basis in a defined system 
which allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities 

performed by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes, Tian Fangli, Chairman of the board 

4.8.2. Record transactions Yes, Wang Minyan, the chief of accounting 
section 

4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in transaction Yes, Wang Minyan, the chief of accounting 
section 

4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, accounting 
for goods and services segregated? Yes, all these will be separated. 
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4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone other 

than those who make or approve payments? Yes, others will prepare bank reconciliations. 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Yes, it includes physical and financial targets. 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with 
which to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 
with reasonable frequency, and explanations 
required for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required in 
advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

Implementing unit draws budgets, and 
financial bureau will approve it, 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? Implementing unit compiles budgets, which will 
be approved and supervised by audit units. 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of 
different projects, and prepare budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project activities 
realistic, based on valid assumptions, and developed 
by knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports be 

obtained directly from issuing departments? Yes 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and terms 
with those indicated on the purchase order and 
with records of goods actually received? 

Yes, it must be compared. 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes, it must be done. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, all these must be checked in accuracy. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? The payroll is prepared on actual staff proved 
by local personnel affairs bureaus. 

4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? Labor departments will authorize the change 
of payroll. 

Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or 

accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? The standards of PRC 

4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 
procedures manual to guide activities and ensure 
staff accountability? 

The accounting policy and procedure manual 
will be updated according to the progress of 
the engineering works coordinated with 
Chinese standards. 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? Yes 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 
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4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 

routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict of 
interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? Yes 
Cash and banking  
4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized 

signatories of the bank accounts. Yes 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-to-
date cashbook, recording receipts and payments? Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on a 

monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation 
reviewed and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? The date received 
Safeguarding Assets  
4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 

them from fraud, waste, and abuse? Yes, the company has. 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks 
kept up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks 
reconciled to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed assets 
and stocks? At least once a year 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies participating 

in implementation? Yes 

4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 
established controls and procedures for flow of 
funds, financial information, accountability, and 
audits in relation to other offices or implementing 
agencies? 

Yes 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion? Yes 

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

Yes 

Other  
4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to report 

if they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of project 
resources or property? 

Report to inspecting agencies directly. 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the organization? Yes 
5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 

internal audit department staff? Highly qualified with adequate experience 

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit department 
report? What is this individual’s position? Report to managers of the company 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this project 
in its work program? Yes 
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5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 

findings? 
Corrected by policies and regulations; punish 
the staff if necessary 

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes, it is Chongqing Yinghe Accountant Affairs 
Ltd. Company 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? In three months 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? Yes 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues brought 
up in the audit reports in the last three years? No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be appointed to audit 
the project’s financial statements? 

Yes 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been 
implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an 
independent governmental entity in addition to the 
external audit? 

Yes 
 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Not yet 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the organization? Yes 

7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare the 
organization’s financial statements? 

Accounting Standards for small scale 
enterprises” and “Accounting Standards of 
State Owned Construction Units” 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the Implementing 
unit? Yes 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Per month. 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for 
decision making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? No 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link the 
financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather and 
compile physical data, what controls are in place to 
reduce the risk that the physical data may not 
synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual expenditures 
with budgeted allocations? Yes 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 
automated accounting system or are they prepared 
by spreadsheets or some other means? 

Prepared by an automated accounting system 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system computerized? Yes 
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8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 

financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the 
system? Yes 

8.4. Does the management organization and processing 
system safeguard the confidentially, integrity, and 
availability of the data? 

Yes, fixed person with a password. 
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Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire  
Yunyang County Jinyu Water Resources and Electricity Company Limited 

Background Information  

Name of Organization Yunyang County Jinyu Water Resources and 
Electricity Company Ltd. 

Subsub-component and projects for which the organization 
is responsible 

Jiangkou Town Water Supply, Nixi Town 
Water Supply, and Yanglu Town Water Supply 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Wudan, the chief of financial sector in the 
company 

 
Topic Response 

1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  
1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / registration? Revenue generated enterprise legally 
1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-financed 

project in the past? (If yes, provide detailed project 
name) 

No 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Yunyang Water Affairs Bureau. 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? It is a department of the government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements for 
your organization? 

Accounting sheets will be reconciled with 
physical engineering works and facts. The 
financial statement audited will be handed 
over financial bureau for approval. 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the needs 
of the project? Yes 

2.  Funds Flow Arrangement  

2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including a 
chart and explanation of the flow of funds from ADB, 
government, and other financing sources. 

From ADB to Chongqing Municipality Finance 
Bureau to County financial Bureau to Jinyu 
Company to implementing agencies/goods 
suppliers. 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the ADB 
loan from the … Finance Bureau to your organization 
satisfactory? 

Yes 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in the 
receipt of ADB funds? No experience implementing ADB’s funds 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? The branch of Construction Bank of China 
2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have experience 

in the management of disbursements from ADB? 
No experience in the management of 
disbursement from ADB 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes, local government finance 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for your 
subsub-component construction? 

Special allowance for rural population in clean 
water drinking, as well as local finance 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Transferred by local government’s finance 
annually 

2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? No tariff be used to help fund the Project 
2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 

costs? No requirement 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in 
kind are proper guidelines formulated to record and 
value the contribution? 

No 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Payment will be made to reconcile with the 
progress of the works. 

3. Staffing  
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3.1. What is your organization’s structure for accounting 

or finance department? (Attach an organization 
chart.) 

Chief of financial sector 
↓                 ↓ 

Accountant Bookkeeper 

3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position title, 
responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Wudan, the chief of financial sector, three 
years college education; 
Wang Huaiyu, the vice chief of the sector, 
three-year education in college; 
Wang Xiaoping, bookkeeper, three-year 
education in college 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes 
will you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

To set up independent accounting system that 
will monitor the whole procedure of the Project 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? No 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

No 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the accounting 
staff? 

All staff is required to obtain certification and 
be trained professionally in certain durations, 
and all documents should be audited annually. 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  
4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 

which allows for proper recording of project financial 
transactions, including the allocation of expenditures 
in accordance with the respective subsub-
components, disbursement categories, and source of 
funds? 

(1) The company has an accounting system to 
record financial transactions. (2) Transactions 
will be noted based on actual bills, and all 
subsub-components will be recorded 
separately. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? 

The financial system for small scale 
enterprises is adopted. 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation and 
approval of transactions, ensuring that all 
transactions are correctly made and adequately 
explained? 

Control measurements include: (1) all receipts 
and travel checks will be signed; (2) and 
receivers of money must be matched with the 
seal on the contract. 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly 
account for and report on project activities and 
disbursements categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with established 
agreements? 

Yes, all cost allocations to various funding 
sources are made accurately and in 
accordance with established agreement. 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents 
retained on a permanent basis in a defined system 
which allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities 

performed by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes 
4.8.2. Record transactions Yes 
4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in transaction Yes 
4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, accounting 

for goods and services segregated? Yes, all these will be separated. 
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4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone other 

than those who make or approve payments? Yes, others will prepare bank reconciliations. 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Yes 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with 
which to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 
with reasonable frequency, and explanations 
required for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required in 
advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

Prepared by design and implementing 
agencies and will be approved by relating 
departments 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? 
The budgets are prepared by implementing 
agencies and approved by financial 
department and audited by auditors, and 
inspected by relating agencies. 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of 
different projects, and prepare budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project activities 
realistic, based on valid assumptions, and developed 
by knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports be 

obtained directly from issuing departments? No 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and terms 
with those indicated on the purchase order and 
with records of goods actually received? 

Yes, it must be compared. 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes, it must be done. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, all these must be checked in accuracy. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? 
The payroll is prepared by the personnel 
affairs sector in the company, and will be 
approved by labor department before 
payment. 

4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? The changes will be reported to and reviewed 
by labor department. 

Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or 

accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? The accounting standards for small scale 
enterprise particularly 

4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 
procedures manual to guide activities and ensure 
staff accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? Yes 
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4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 

persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 
routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict of 
interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? Yes 
Cash and banking  
4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized 

signatories of the bank accounts. Yes 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-to-
date cashbook, recording receipts and payments? Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on a 

monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation 
reviewed and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? The date received. 
Safeguarding Assets  
4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 

them from fraud, waste, and abuse? Yes, the company has. 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks 
kept up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks 
reconciled to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed assets 
and stocks? Once every year 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies participating 

in implementation? Yes 

4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 
established controls and procedures for flow of 
funds, financial information, accountability, and 
audits in relation to other offices or implementing 
agencies? 

Yes 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion? Yes 

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

Yes 

Other  
4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to report 

if they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of project 
resources or property? 

Report to inspecting agencies directly 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the organization? Yes 
5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 

internal audit department staff? Highly qualified with adequate experience 
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5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit department 

report? What is this individual’s position? 
Report to Li Lin, who is the representative of 
the company 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this project 
in its work program? Yes 

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings? 

Correct according to policies, and punish staff 
if necessary 

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes, it is auditors assigned by audit 
department. 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? The report is issued after audit. 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? Yes 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues brought 
up in the audit reports in the last three years? No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be appointed to audit 
the project’s financial statements? 

Yes 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been 
implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an 
independent governmental entity in addition to the 
external audit? 

Yes 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Not yet 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the organization? Yes 
7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare the 

organization’s financial statements? The Accounting Standards of China 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the Implementing 
unit? Yes 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Monthly 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for 
decision making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? No 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link the 
financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather and 
compile physical data, what controls are in place to 
reduce the risk that the physical data may not 
synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual expenditures 
with budgeted allocations? Yes 
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7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 

automated accounting system or are they prepared 
by spreadsheets or some other means? 

Prepared by the accounting system directly 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system computerized? Yes 
8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 

financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the 
system? Yes 

8.4. Does the management organization and processing 
system safeguard the confidentially, integrity, and 
availability of the data? 

Yes, password protection 
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Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire 
Fengjie County Xinquan Water Supply Company Ltd. 

Background Information  

Name of Organization Fengjie County Xinquan Water Supply 
Company Ltd. 

Subsub-component and projects for which the organization 
is responsible 

Caotang Town Water Supply, Hongtu Town 
Water Supply 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Tao Hongmei, the accountant 
 

Topic Response 
1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  
1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / registration? It is the state owned enterprise legally. 
1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-financed 

project in the past? (If yes, provide detailed project 
name) 

No 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Fengjie County Water Affairs Bureau 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? It a department of the government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements for 
your organization? 

The record should be matched with physical 
matter, and provide financial statement 
monthly. 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the needs 
of the project? Yes 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement  
2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including a 

chart and explanation of the flow of funds from ADB, 
government, and other financing sources. 

From ADB to Chongqing Finance Bureau to 
Fengjie Finance Bureau to Xinquan Water 
Supply Company 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the ADB 
loan from the … Finance Bureau to your organization 
satisfactory? 

Yes 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in the 
receipt of ADB funds? Not trained on ADB requirement till now 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? The branch of Construction Bank of China 
2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have experience 

in the management of disbursements from ADB? 
No experience in management of 
disbursement from ADB 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes, local financial resource 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for your 
subsub-component construction? 

By allowance of safeguard of clean water 
drinking in rural areas, and local financial 
funds 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Transferred by local government 

2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? No public fee/tariffs to be raised for the 
Project 

2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 
costs? No requirement 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in kind 
are proper guidelines formulated to record and value 
the contribution? 

No beneficiaries have been involved. 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Payment will be transferred according to the 
progress of engineering works. 

3. Staffing  

3.1. What is your organization’s structure for accounting or 
finance department? (Attach an organization chart.) 

Chief of financial sector 
↓                 ↓ 

Accountant Bookkeeper 
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3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position title, 
responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Li Derong, the chief of financial sector, 
undergraduate of university, registered 
accountant; 
Tao Hongmei, three years college education; 
Zhou Lanfeng, bookkeeper, secondary 
school education 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes will 
you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

Not necessary 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? No 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the accounting 
staff? 

All staff is required to obtain certification and 
be trained professionally in certain durations, 
and all certifications should be rechecked 
annually. 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  
4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 

which allows for proper recording of project financial 
transactions, including the allocation of expenditures 
in accordance with the respective subsub-
components, disbursement categories, and source of 
funds? 

(1) The company has an accounting system 
to record financial transactions. (2) 
Transactions will be noted based on actual 
bills, and all subsub-components will be 
recorded separately. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? 

The financial system titled Yongyu for small 
scale enterprises is adopted. 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation and 
approval of transactions, ensuring that all transactions 
are correctly made and adequately explained? 

Control measurements include: (1) all 
receipts and travel checks will be signed; (2) 
and receivers of money must be matched 
with the seal on the contract. 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly account 
for and report on project activities and disbursements 
categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with established 
agreements? 

Yes, all cost allocations to various funding 
sources are made accurately and in 
accordance with established agreement. 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents retained 
on a permanent basis in a defined system which 
allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities performed 

by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes 
4.8.2. Record transactions Yes 
4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in transaction Yes 
4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, accounting 

for goods and services segregated? Yes, all these will be separated. 

4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone other 
than those who make or approve payments? 

No, bank reconciliations will be prepared by 
those who do not make or approve 
payments. 



69 

Topic Response 
Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Yes 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with which 
to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 
with reasonable frequency, and explanations required 
for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required in 
advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

Prepared by design and implementing 
agencies and will be approved by relating 
departments 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? 
The budgets are prepared by implementing 
agencies and approved by financial 
department and audited by auditors, and 
inspected by related agencies. 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of different 
projects, and prepare budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project activities 
realistic, based on valid assumptions, and developed 
by knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports be 

obtained directly from issuing departments? Yes 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and terms 
with those indicated on the purchase order and with 
records of goods actually received? 

Yes, it must be compared. 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes, it must be done. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, all these must be checked in accuracy. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? 
The payroll is prepared by the personnel 
affairs sector in the company, and will be 
approved by labor department before 
payment. 

4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? The changes will be reported to and 
reviewed by labor department. 

Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? The accounting standards for small scale 
enterprise particularly 

4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 
procedures manual to guide activities and ensure staff 
accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? Yes 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 
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4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 

routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict of 
interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? Yes 
Cash and banking  

4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized signatories 
of the bank accounts. 

Tao Hongmei, the accountant; 
Li Derong, the chief of the financial sector; 
Liu Lisheng, the general manager; 
Li Xiaoquan, the chairman of the board 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-to-
date cashbook, recording receipts and payments? Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on a 

monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation reviewed 
and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? The date received 
Safeguarding Assets  
4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 

them from fraud, waste, and abuse? Yes 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks kept 
up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks reconciled 
to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed assets 
and stocks? In a year 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies participating in 

implementation? Yes 

4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 
established controls and procedures for flow of funds, 
financial information, accountability, and audits in 
relation to other offices or implementing agencies? 

Yes 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion? Yes 

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

Yes 

Other  
4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to report if 

they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of project 
resources or property? 

Report to inspecting agencies directly 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the organization? Yes 
5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 

internal audit department staff? Highly qualified with adequate experience 

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit department 
report? What is this individual’s position? 

Report to Li Xiaoquan, who is chairman of 
the board 
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5.4. Will the internal audit department include this project 

in its work program? Yes 

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings? 

Correct according to policies, and punish 
staff if necessary 

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes, it is auditors assigned by audit 
department. 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? The report is issued after audit. 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? Yes 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues brought up 
in the audit reports in the last three years? No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project accounts 
or will another auditor be appointed to audit the 
project’s financial statements? 

Yes 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an independent 
governmental entity in addition to the external audit? Yes 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Not yet 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the organization? Yes 
7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare the 

organization’s financial statements? The Accounting Standards of China 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the Implementing 
unit? Yes 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Per month 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for decision 
making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? No 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link the 
financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather and 
compile physical data, what controls are in place to 
reduce the risk that the physical data may not 
synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual expenditures 
with budgeted allocations? Yes 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 
automated accounting system or are they prepared by 
spreadsheets or some other means? 

Prepared by the accounting system directly 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system computerized? Yes 
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8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 

financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the system? Yes 
8.4. Does the management organization and processing 

system safeguard the confidentially, integrity, and 
availability of the data? 

Yes, password for access 
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Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire  
Wushan County Dingcheng Water Affairs Company Ltd. 

(Attached in Wushan County Longsheng Construction and Development Company Limited) 
Background Information  

Name of Organization Wushan County Dingcheng Water Affairs 
Company Ltd. 

Subsub-component and projects for which the 
organization is responsible Longjing Township Water Supply 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Cheng Wen 
 

Topic Response 
1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  
1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / 

registration? 
It is a state owned enterprise legally; the number 
of registered is 500237000002900. 

1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-
financed project in the past? (If yes, provide 
detailed project name) 

No 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Water Affairs Bureau of Wushan County 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? It a department of the government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements 
for your organization? 

The record should be matched with the physical 
matter, and provide financial statement monthly. 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the 
needs of the project? Yes 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement  
2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including 

a chart and explanation of the flow of funds from 
ADB, government, and other financing sources. 

Form ADB to Chongqing Finance Bureau to 
Wushan Finance Bureau to Dingcheng Water 
Affair Company 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the 
ADB loan from the … Finance Bureau to your 
organization satisfactory? 

Yes 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in 
the receipt of ADB funds? Not yet 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? The branch of the Bank of China 
2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have 

experience in the management of disbursements 
from ADB? 

No experience in management of disbursement 
from ADB 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for 
your subsub-component construction? Other resources of government. 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Transferred by government directly 
2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? No public fee/tariffs to be raised for the Project 
2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 

costs? No 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in 
kind are proper guidelines formulated to record 
and value the contribution? 

Yes, it will be if beneficiaries have contributed. 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Payment will be transferred according to the 
progress of engineering works. 

3. Staffing  
3.1. What is your organization’s structure for 

accounting or finance department? (Attach an 
organization chart.) 

Finance sector of the company 
↓                  ↓ 

Accountant Bookkeeper  



74 

Topic Response 

3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position 
title, responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Cheng Wen, the chief of financial sector, three 
years education in college; 
Du Wenhui, the voice of financial sector, 
accountant, three years education; 
Zhang Jun, Bookkeeper, three years education 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes 
will you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

Not necessary to change the staff 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? No 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the 
accounting staff? 

All staff should have certification of accountant, 
and will be re-educated and reconfirmed 
annually. 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  

4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 
which allows for proper recording of project 
financial transactions, including the allocation of 
expenditures in accordance with the respective 
subsub-components, disbursement categories, 
and source of funds? 

The transactions will be recorded according to 
contracts, regulations, and the amount of 
payment, real debtors and debt. For each 
different project, a separate account will be set 
up and used normally. Direct expenditure will be 
accounted directly, and indirect expenditure will 
be apportioned by the percent applied in 
engineering budgets. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? 

The financial system titled Yongyu especially for 
small scale enterprises is adopted. 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation 
and approval of transactions, ensuring that all 
transactions are correctly made and adequately 
explained? 

Control measurements include: (1) all receipts 
and travel checks will be signed; (2) and 
receivers of money must be matched with the 
seal on the contract. 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly 
account for and report on project activities and 
disbursements categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with 
established agreements? 

Yes, the allocation must be done according to 
agreements and regulations; Direct expenditure 
and indirectly expenditure must be identified 
correctly; Independent agencies must audit 
financial statements. 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents 
retained on a permanent basis in a defined system 
which allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities 

performed by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes, it is Chengwen. 
4.8.2. Record transactions Yes, it is Du Wenhui. 
4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in 

transaction Yes, it is Du Wenhui. 

4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, 
accounting for goods and services segregated? Yes, all these were separated. 
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4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone 

other than those who make or approve payments? Yes 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? Yes 
4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with 
which to monitor subsequent performance? 

Yes 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 
with reasonable frequency, and explanations 
required for significant variations from the budget? 

Yes 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required 
in advance? Yes 

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets? 

Prepared by financial sector and approved by 
managers of the company 

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved? 
Prepared by practical indexes and economic 
indexes, and approved by workshops of the 
company 

4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 
collect information from the units in charge of 
different projects, and prepare budgets? 

Yes 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project 
activities realistic, based on valid assumptions, 
and developed by knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports 

be obtained directly from issuing departments? Yes 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and 
terms with those indicated on the purchase order 
and with records of goods actually received? 

Yes, it must be compared. 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes, it must be done. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, all these must be checked in accuracy. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 

4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? Confirm the staff and standards of salary, and 
check the record of works. 

4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? 
Prepared by labor and salary sector, and 
checked by financial sector, and approved by 
managers of the managers 

Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or 

accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? The accountant standards of PRC 
4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 

procedures manual to guide activities and ensure 
staff accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? Yes 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 
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4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 

routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict 
of interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? Yes 
Cash and banking  
4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized 

signatories of the bank accounts. 
Cheng Wen the chief of financial sector ;Zhang 
Jun, the bookkeeper 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-
to-date cashbook, recording receipts and 
payments? 

Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on 

a monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation 
reviewed and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? The date received 
Safeguarding Assets  

4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 
them from fraud, waste, and abuse? 

Procurement and treatment of assets will be 
carried out according to the procedures in 
regulations; all assets will be rechecked once a 
year. 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks 
kept up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks 
reconciled to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed 
assets and stocks? At least once a year 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies 

participating in implementation? No 

4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 
established controls and procedures for flow of 
funds, financial information, accountability, and 
audits in relation to other offices or implementing 
agencies? 

 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion?  

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

 

Other  
4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to 

report if they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of 
project resources or property? 

Yes, report to inspecting agencies directly. 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the 

organization? No 

5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 
internal audit department staff?  
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5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit 

department report? What is this individual’s 
position? 

 

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this 
project in its work program?  

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings?  

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes, it is Chongqing Hengshengda Accounting 
Affairs Agency. 
 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? In 15 days 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? No 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues 
brought up in the audit reports in the last three 
years? 

No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be appointed to 
audit the project’s financial statements? 

Yes 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been 
implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an 
independent governmental entity in addition to the 
external audit? 

Yes 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Not yet 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the 

organization? Yes 

7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare 
the organization’s financial statements? 

Accounting Regulations, and small scale 
enterprises accountant regulations 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the 
Implementing unit? No 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Half a year 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for 
decision making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? No 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link 
the financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather 
and compile physical data, what controls are in 
place to reduce the risk that the physical data may 
not synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes, the progress of projects will be confirmed by 
monitors. 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual 
expenditures with budgeted allocations? Yes 
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7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 

automated accounting system or are they 
prepared by spreadsheets or some other means? 

Prepared by the accounting system directly 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system 

computerized? Yes 

8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 
financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the 
system? Yes 

8.4. Does the management organization and 
processing system safeguard the confidentially, 
integrity, and availability of the data? 

Yes, password for access. 
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Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire 
Chengkou County Water Supply Company 

Background Information  
Name of Organization Chengkou County Water Supply Company 
Subsub-component and projects for which the organization 
is responsible Gaoguan Town Water Supply 

Name of individual completing this questionnaire Zhan Shu, the accountant 
 
Topic Response 
1. Implementing unit / Executing Agency  

1.1. What is your organization’s legal status / registration? State Owned Enterprise; the registered 
number is 5002291800106 1-1-1 

1.2. Has your organization implemented a foreign-financed 
project in the past? (If yes, provide detailed project 
name) 

No 

1.3. What is your organization’s governing body? Chengkou Count7 Water Affairs Bureau 
1.4. What is the governing body’s relationship to the … 

Government? It a department of the government. 

1.5. What are the legal financial reporting requirements for 
your organization? 

The record should be matched with physical 
matter, and provide financial statement 
monthly. 

1.6. Is the organizational structure appropriate for the 
needs of the project? Yes, it is appropriated. 

2. Funds Flow Arrangement  
2.1. Describe project funds flow arrangements, including a 

chart and explanation of the flow of funds from ADB, 
government, and other financing sources. 

From ADB to Chongqing Finance Bureau to 
Chengkou County Finance Bureau to 
Chengkou County Water Supply Company 

2.2. Are arrangements to transfer the proceeds of the ADB 
loan from the … Finance Bureau to your 
organization satisfactory? 

Yes 

2.3. In the past, what have been the major problems in the 
receipt of ADB funds? Not trained on ADB requirement till now 

2.4. In which bank will the Imprest Account be opened? Chongqing Municipal Commercial Bank 
2.5. Do the project Implementing Agencies have 

experience in the management of disbursements 
from ADB? 

No experience in management of 
disbursement from ADB 

2.6. Does your organization have experience managing 
foreign exchange risks? No 

2.7. Is your organization responsible for providing 
counterpart funds? Yes, local financial resource 

2.8. What will be the counterpart sources of funds for your 
subsub-component construction? 

The revenue generated by the company itself, 
and allowance of government 

2.9. How are counterpart funds accessed? Transferred by local government 
2.10. How will tariffs be used to help fund the project? No public fee/tariffs to be raised for the Project 
2.11. Are beneficiaries required to contribute to project 

costs? No requirement 

2.12. If the beneficiaries have an option to contribute in 
kind are proper guidelines formulated to record and 
value the contribution? 

No beneficiaries included. 

2.13. How are payments made from counterpart funds? Payment will be transferred according to the 
progress of engineering works. 

3. Staffing  
3.1. What is your organization’s structure for accounting 

or finance department? (Attach an organization 
chart.) 

Chief of financial sector 
↓                ↓ 

Accountant Bookkeeper 
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3.2. Identify accounting staff. (Include name, position 

title, responsibilities, educational background, and 
professional certification) 

Zhang Wei; 
Zhan Shu 

3.3. If the ADB loan is approved, what staffing changes 
will you make to assist with project finance and 
accounting? 

There is no change at the present. 

3.4. Is the accounting function adequately staffed? Yes 
3.5. Is the accounting staff adequately qualified and 

experienced? Yes 

3.6. Are finance and accounting staffs trained in ADB 
procedures? 

No, it is necessary to arrange more training on 
finance. 

3.7. Does the organization have written position 
descriptions, which clearly define duties, 
responsibilities, lines of supervision, and limits of 
authority for all officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes 

3.8. What is the existing training policy for the accounting 
staff? 

All staff is required to obtain certification and 
be trained professionally in certain duration, 
and all certifications should be rechecked 
annually. 

4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  
General  
4.1. Does the organization have an accounting system, 

which allows for proper recording of project financial 
transactions, including the allocation of expenditures 
in accordance with the respective subsub-
components, disbursement categories, and source 
of funds? 

(1) The company has an accounting system to 
record financial transactions. (2) Transactions 
will be noted based on actual bills, and all 
subsub-components will be recorded 
separately. 

4.2. What organization’s accounting system will the 
Implementing unit and Executing Agency use? 

The financial system titled Yongyu for small 
scale enterprises is adopted. 

4.3. Are controls in place concerning the preparation and 
approval of transactions, ensuring that all 
transactions are correctly made and adequately 
explained? 

Control measurements include: (1) all receipts 
and travel checks will be signed; (2) and 
receivers of money must be matched with the 
seal on the contract. 

4.4. Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly 
account for and report on project activities and 
disbursements categories? 

Yes 

4.5. Are cost allocations to the various funding sources 
made accurately and in accordance with established 
agreements? 

Yes, all cost allocations to various funding 
sources are made accurately and in 
accordance with established agreement. 

4.6. Are the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled and in balance? Yes 

4.7. Are all accounting and supporting documents 
retained on a permanent basis in a defined system 
which allows authorized users easy access? 

Yes 

Segregation of Duties  
4.8. Are the following functional responsibilities 

performed by different units or persons:  

4.8.1. Authorize transactions Yes 
4.8.2. Record transactions Yes 
4.8.3. Maintain custody of assets involved in transaction Yes 
4.9. Are the functions for ordering, receiving, accounting 

for goods and services segregated? Yes, all these will be separated. 

4.10. Are bank reconciliations prepared by someone other 
than those who make or approve payments? Yes, different persons will do these. 

Budgeting System  
4.11. Do budgets include physical and financial targets? The company never has budgets. 
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4.12. Are budgets prepared for all significant activities in 

sufficient detail to provide a meaningful tool with 
which to monitor subsequent performance? 

 

4.13. Are actual expenditures compared with the budget 
with reasonable frequency, and explanations 
required for significant variations from the budget? 

 

4.14. Are approvals for variations from budget required in 
advance?  

4.15. Who is responsible for preparation and approval of 
budgets?  

4.16. How are budgets prepared and approved?  
4.17. Are procedures in place to plan project activities, 

collect information from the units in charge of 
different projects, and prepare budgets? 

 

4.18. Are the project plans and budgets of project 
activities realistic, based on valid assumptions, and 
developed by knowledgeable individuals? 

 

Payments  
4.19. Do invoicing processing procedures provide for:  
4.19.1. Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports 

be obtained directly from issuing departments? Yes 

4.19.2. Comparison of invoice quantities, prices, and 
terms with those indicated on the purchase order 
and with records of goods actually received? 

Yes 

4.19.3. Comparison of invoice quantities with those 
indicated on the receiving report? Yes, it must be done. 

4.19.4. Checking accuracy of calculations? Yes, all these must be checked in accuracy. 
4.20. Are all invoices:  
4.20.1. Stamped PAID? Yes 
4.20.2. Dated? Yes 
4.20.3. Reviewed and approved? Yes 
4.20.4. Marked for account code assignment? Yes 
4.21. What controls exist for the preparation of payroll? Legally and unclosed 
4.22. How are changes to the payroll authorized? Decided by the workshop of the company. 
Policies and Procedures  
4.23. What is the basis of accounting (e.g. cash or 

accrual)? Accrual 

4.24. What accounting standards are followed? Accounting Regulations of Small Scale 
Enterprises 

4.25. Does the organization have adequate policies and 
procedures manual to guide activities and ensure 
staff accountability? 

Yes 

4.26. Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated for project activities? No 

4.27. Do procedures exist to ensure that only authorized 
persons can alter or establish a new accounting 
principle, policy, or procedure to be used by the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.28. Are written policies and procedures covering all 
routine financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes 

4.29. Do policies and procedures clearly define conflict of 
interest and related party transactions (real and 
apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization? 

Yes 

4.30. Are manuals distributed to appropriate personnel? Yes 
Cash and banking  
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4.31. Indicate names and positions of authorized 

signatories of the bank accounts. Fang Yefu 

4.32. Does the organization maintain an adequate up-to-
date cashbook, recording receipts and payments? Yes 

4.33. What controls exist for the following activities:  
4.33.1. Collection of revenues? Yes 
4.33.2. Timely deposit of receipts? Yes 
4.33.3. Recording of receipts at each collection location? Yes 
4.34. Are bank statements and cashbook reconciled on a 

monthly basis? Yes 

4.35. Are unusual items on the bank reconciliation 
reviewed and approved by a responsible officer? Yes 

4.36. How quickly are receipts deposited? The date received 
Safeguarding Assets  
4.37. Describe the system to record assets and protect 

them from fraud, waste, and abuse? No 

4.38. Are subsidiary records of fixed assets and stocks 
kept up to date? Yes 

4.39. Are subsidiary records of assets and stocks 
reconciled to control accounts? Yes 

4.40. How frequent are physical inventories of fixed assets 
and stocks? At least once a year 

4.41. Are assets covered by insurance policies? Yes 
Other Offices and Implementing Agencies  
4.42. Are there other implementing agencies participating 

in implementation? Yes 

4.43. Has the Project Management Office (PMO) 
established controls and procedures for flow of 
funds, financial information, accountability, and 
audits in relation to other offices or implementing 
agencies? 

Yes 

4.44. Does information among different implementing 
agencies flow in an accurate and timely fashion? Yes 

4.45. Are periodic reconciliations of financial information 
performed among the different implementing 
agencies? 

Yes 

Other  
4.46. Has the PMO advised employees to whom to report 

if they suspect fraud, waste, or misuse of project 
resources or property? 

Report to inspecting agencies directly 

5. Internal Audit  
5.1. Is there an internal department in the organization? No 
5.2. What are the qualifications and experience of the 

internal audit department staff?  

5.3. To whom does the head of internal audit department 
report? What is this individual’s position?  

5.4. Will the internal audit department include this project 
in its work program?  

5.5. What actions are taken on the internal audit staff’s 
findings?  

6. External Audit  
6.1. Are the organization’s financial statements audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor? 

Yes, it is Boyuan Audit Affairs Agency. 

6.2. When is the audit report issued? At the beginning of the next year 
6.3. Are there any delays in the audit of the entity? No 
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6.4. Is the audit of the entity conducted according to 

International Standards on Auditing? Yes 

6.5. Were there any major accountability issues brought 
up in the audit reports in the last three years? No 

6.6. Will the independent auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be appointed to 
audit the project’s financial statements? 

Yes 

6.7. Are there any recommendations made by the 
independent auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not been 
implemented? 

No 

6.8. Is the project subject to an audit from an 
independent governmental entity in addition to the 
external audit? 

Yes 

6.9. Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Not yet 

7. Reporting and Monitoring  
7.1. Are financial statements prepared for the organization? Yes 
7.2. What accounting standards are used to prepare the 

organization’s financial statements? The Accounting Standards of China 

7.3. Are financial statements prepared for the Implementing 
unit? Yes 

7.4. What is the frequency of the financial statements’ 
presentation? Once every quarter 

7.5. Are the financial statements prepared in a timely 
fashion so as to be useful to management for 
decision making? 

Yes 

7.6. Does the reporting system need to be adapted to 
report on the project sub-components? No 

7.7. Does the reporting system have the ability to link the 
financial information with the project’s physical 
progress? If a separate system is used to gather and 
compile physical data, what controls are in place to 
reduce the risk that the physical data may not 
synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes 

7.8. Does the project have established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify 
which reports are to be prepared, what the reports 
contain, and how they are to be used? 

Yes 

7.9. Are financial management reports used by 
management? Yes 

7.10. Do the financial reports compare actual 
expenditures with budgeted allocations? Yes 

7.11. Are financial reports prepared directly by the 
automated accounting system or are they prepared 
by spreadsheets or some other means? 

Prepared by the accounting system directly 

8. Information Systems  
8.1. Is the financial management system computerized? Yes 
8.2. Can the system produce the necessary project 

financial reports? Yes 

8.3. Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the 
system? Yes 

8.4. Does the management organization and processing 
system safeguard the confidentially, integrity, and 
availability of the data? 

Yes, password for access 

 


